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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE?”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in
the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or
in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Brilliant
Global Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no
other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein
or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
FREH|E

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company,
| am pleased to present the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31
March 2022.

For two-plus years, the COVID-19 has ravaged the world, whose
sporadic resurgences have crippled the world economy. Fortunately,
the economic activity gradually recovered during the year and the
demand for commodities rebounded, offsetting the pandemic impact.
The turnover of gold and jewellery trading improved, and the lending
business maintained a steady growth. As a result, the Group’s revenue
for the year ended 31 March 2022 amounted to approximately
HK$77,806,000, representing an increase of about 31.8% from
approximately HK$59,038,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Despite the challenging business environment, the Group continued
growing. It seized opportunities for business development while
adjusting its business integration, to increase sources of revenue and
improve profitability. Due to keen competition in the retail business and
expiry of the lease, the franchise store of Lukfook Jewellery brand in
Wongtee Plaza ceased operation on 21 July 2021. However, the Group
still operates wholesale gold and jewelry products in the PRC.

Since 2019, the Group has prepared for its banking business at the
Astana International Financial Centre (“AIFC”). On 26 March 2021,
AFSA granted Brillink Bank Corporation Limited (“Brillink Bank”)
a license to conduct regulated banking activities, including taking
deposits, granting credits, advising on credit financing, arranging
credit financing, and providing money services. In August 2021, AFSA
confirmed that Brillink Bank had completed the independent evaluation
of its banking system and officially commenced its operation. As of 31
March 2022, deposits from customers amounted to HK$7,272,000 and
loans and advances amounted to HK$13,412,000 (net of allowance
for credit losses). Although the banking business under development
does not contribute to the Group’s results, the Group will continue
monitoring the market and environment, particularly in the area of trade
and supply chain financing, to further understand the development
potential.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
FREH|E

Looking ahead, the Group will brave challenges such as the
protracted COVID-19 pandemic, unstable market environment and
geopolitical risks. In line with the current strategic plan, the Group
will strengthen the development of its financial technology business,
expand its user base, and seek growth opportunities in existing and
emerging business areas. The Group will, by leveraging its competitive
advantages, expand and enhance its profitability to create more value
and benefits for itself and its shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to extend
my sincere gratitude to our shareholders and business partners for
their continued support. | would also like to express my heartfelt
thanks to the management team and all our staff for their unremitting
efforts, and for their dedication and commitment to duties particularly
during the pandemic, to tide over a confluence of challenges, which
ensured the Group’s normal operation and steadily advanced its
business development.

Mr. Zhang Chunhua
Chairman

Hong Kong

24 June 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK

Revenue

During the year, the Group continued to diversify its revenue base
to gold and jewellery trading and retailing, lending business and
fintech business. As a result, the Group’s revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2022 amounted to approximately HK$77,806,000,
representing an increase of approximately 31.8% from approximately
HK$59,038,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Cost of sales and gross profit margin

Cost of sales of the Group increased from approximately
HK$54,080,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$72,786,000, for the year ended 31 March 2022, representing an
increase of approximately 34.6%. As the gold jewellery wholesale
contributed a significant part of the revenue, which had a lower gross
profit margin, which was partially offset by high gross margin in lending
business, the overall gross profit margin decreased from approximately
8% to 6% in current year.

Other gains and losses, net

Other gains and losses, net during the year amounted to a loss
approximately HK$7,526,000, which was increased by approximately
HK$1,108,000 as compared with that of 2022 (2021: HK$6,418,000).
The increase was mainly attributable to the loss arising on fair value
change of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Selling expenses

The Group’s selling expenses were approximately HK$517,000
for the year ended 31 March 2022 decreased from approximately
HK$1,347,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021. The decrease was
mainly attributable to the decrease the marketing and promotion
expenditure of the gold and jewellery trading and retailing business.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses experienced an increase of approximately
HK$6,428,000 from approximately HK$35,108,000 for the year ended
31 March 2021 to approximately HK$41,536,000 for the year ended
31 March 2022 which was mainly due to an increase in staff costs and
services fee in fintech business and share-based payment expenses in
respect of the vesting conditions for the share options granted on 27
June 2018 and 18 December 2018 in amounting to HK$2,587,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs experienced a decrease of approximately
HK$166,000 from approximately HK$244,000 for the year ended 31
March 2021 to approximately HK$78,000 for the year ended 31 March
2022. The decrease in such expenses was mainly due to interest on
lease liabilities decreased.

Share of results of an associate
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group had share of results
of an associate amounted to approximately Nil (2021: HK$5,000).

Impairment loss recognised in respect of interest in an
associate
Impairment loss recognised in respect of interest in an associate
in amounting to Nil (2021: HK$487,000) is for the associate, Darling
Paganini Holding Limited (“Darling Paganini”) for the year ended 31
March 2022.

Impairment losses recognised under expected credit loss
model, net of reversal

Impairment losses recognised under expected credit loss model, net
of reversal are approximately HK$1,517,000 (2021: impairment losses
reversed of HK$364,000) for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Result for the year

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$46,154,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2022, compared to a loss of approximately
HK$39,144,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021. The loss for
the year mainly due to the operation profit from lending business in
amounting to HK$2,810,000 and from gold and jewellery business
in amounting to HK$516,000 set off with (i) share-based payment
expenses in amounting to HK$2,587,000; (i) loss arising on fair
value change of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss in amounting to HK$7,476,000; (i) loss on fintech business on
development stage in amounting to HK$27,484,000 and (iv) other
administrative expenses in amounting to HK$11,908,000.

Dividend
The Board do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2021/22

MBEE BEREARREZW@

BEREA
ARBzMBRERABEBE-_F-_—F=A
=+ — B L FE Z #244,000/ 7T % 4 4
166,000 TZHBE T - —F=A=+—H
I E 2 #978,0008 7T - HEE MM DT E
EHREERENERD -

BLBEATES
REBEE-_Z - —F=ZA=+—HItFE &X&
ErEEBEAREENAT (S ——F:
5,000/ 7T) °

RRBEATRSEIZRESE

BHE_ZT-__F=A=+—HIEFE RN
BMERNARABRAZREBEEZE T
T —F:4870008 ) R — KB E R
7] Darling Paganini Holding Limited ([Darling
Paganinil) °

REEHGEESEEXBEIRZHERSSE -
HBR £
HE-ZE-—_FF=ZfA=+—HILFE B
EHREEBEREAER 2 RERIE - MNERE

B4 A1,517,0008 L (ZE = —F  BIEFHE
1 [0364,0007 7T) °

AEEERE
BE-_Z-_—_H#=-A=+—HIEE K&
B 8% 15 )F 65 18 4946,154,000/8 7T * MELE =
T —FZA=ZT—HIFERREEERY
39,144,000 7T - RAFEBEFEHRNKE
BB ¥ 2 &4 F) 2,810,000 7T A K 3k B
= MIRE ¥ 2 % 7 H516,0007% 7T 1 ()
VARS 17 A EE 0 2 15 55 22,587,000/ 7T ¢ (i) %2
AFEEFEBEEFABER 2 eMEBEAT
EEZEESE ZEE7,476,0007 7T : (i) I& 7
EEBER BB FET 2 B 527,484,000
AT 5 R (iv) B A 1T R F 5211,908,0007% Tt BT
8 o

iz 2
EEgfEERMBE_T _—_F=A=1—
HIEFERERES -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Total equity

As a results of loss for the year, as at 31 March 2022, the Group’s
a total equity decreased by approximately HK$8,341,000 to
approximately HK$75,139,000 (31 March 2021: HK$83,480,000).

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group adopts a prudent cash and financial management policy. In
order to achieve better cost control and minimise the cost of funds, the
Group’s treasury activities are centralised and cash is generally placed
in deposits with banks.

As at 31 March 2022, total cash and cash equivalents of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$92,144,000 (31 March 2021:
HK$109,508,000). The decrease in total cash and cash equivalent
was mainly due to proceeds from disposal of share of subsidiaries
in amounting to HK$35,100,000 set off with (i) poor operation results
in amounting to HK$38,275,000, (i) additions of intangible assets of
software and system in amounting to HK$11,260,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

Treasury policies and foreign currency exchange exposure
As most of the Group’s trading transactions, monetary assets and
liabilities are denominated in United States Dollar, Renminbi and Hong
Kong Dollar, the impact of foreign exchange exposure to the Group
was insignificant and there was no significant adverse effect on normal
operations.

Cash is generally deposited at banks in the Republic of Kazakhstan,
PRC and Hong Kong and denominated mostly in United States Dollar,
Renminbi and Hong Kong Dollar. During the year ended and as at 31
March 2022, no related hedges were made by the Group (2021: nil).

Charges on Group’s assets
The Group did not have any charges on assets as at 31 March 2022
and 31 March 2021.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no material contingent liabilities
(2021: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Significant investments, acquisitions or disposals
The Group does not have any material acquisition or disposal during
the year ended 31 March 2022.

Capital structure and use of proceeds

Capital structure

The Company’s authorised, issued and fully paid share capital were as
follows:
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iigvig (4= B
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FAT
Authorised: JETE
As at 1 April 2021 and RZE—FEA—BK
31 March 2022 (HK$0.1 each) —E--F=A=+—H
(SRR MEE0.1E L) 2,500,000,000 250,000
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Capital structure and use of proceeds (Continued)

Capital structure (Continued)

The Group’s capital structure is sound with healthy working capital
management. As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s total equity
amounted to approximately HK$75,139,000, representing a decrease
of approximately 10% compared with that as at 31 March 2021 (31
March 2021: HK$83,480,000). As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s cash
and cash equivalents totaled approximately HK$92,144,000 (as at 31
March 2021: HK$109,508,000). The current ratio (note 1) and the quick
ratio (note 2) of the Group as at 31 March 2022 was 1.63 (as at 31
March 2021: 16.41) and 1.63 (as at 31 March 2021: 15.99) respectively.
The Group was in net cash position as at 31 March 2022 (gearing ratio
(note 3) as at 31 March 2021: Net cash position).

Apart from the above, there has been no material change in the capital
structure of the Group during the year.

Notes:
() Current Ratio = Current Assets = Current Liabilities
(b) Quick Ratio = (Current Assets — Inventories) = Current Liabilities

(c) Gearing Ratio = (Debts — Cash and cash equivalents) = Equity
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

An analysis about the use of proceeds for the expansion of the
Group’s trading gold and jewellery business and development of
fintech business up to 31 March 2022 out of placement during the
year was set out as follows:

Total estimated minimum

funding need in respect of Designated area/ Net proceeds

MBEE BEREARREZW@

FRAHERASEEEES MIREEHLHE
REeMMEEBREZE - _F=A=+—
BZEEMSHRARERRBE 2T

Actual use of

proceeds up to Balance as at

the proposed use of proceeds  business segment received 31 March 2022 31 March 2022
BEE-E-C
REMBEREZ BEEHE 2 S =A=+—-BHx2 R=-¥B=-Z
BHREELEREE EBaE REFE FBREERAE =B=+-—-H&%#
Expansion of the Group’s trading Gold and jewellery Approximately Approximately Approximately
gold and jewellery business trading and retailing HK$23.7 million HK$23.7 million HK$NIl
business
BRASEEESSAREXE B2 RKEEER M3 TEEET K23 7EEETT HNEETT
TEXK
Development of fintech business Fintech business Approximately Approximately Approximately
HK$40.0 million HK$40.0 million HKS$NIl
BREMMRER TR ES #400BEET K400BEB T HNEETT
Note: P 7 -

Approximately HK$63.7 million was originally intended for expansion of the Group’s
trading gold and jewellery business. After considering the operation and business
development of the Group, the Board resolved to re-allocate approximately HK$40
million to support for fintech business.

An analysis about the use of proceeds for general working capital up
to 31 March 2022 out of subscription of new shares was set out as
follows:

Total estimated minimum

funding need in respect of Designated area/ Net proceeds

WeTEBELRYEARBERASEERER MK
BER KERAGEsKERERERE 5T
ROUBEBHMDENOBEBETL BREDSRBHRE
% o

EBBE-_S-——4=A=1+—A2RBH
B AR 13 R IE R — R B S B AT RS
mF

Actual use of

proceeds up to Balance as at

the proposed use of proceeds  business segment received 31 March 2022 31 March 2022
BEE-E-C
REMBREREZ EEEE/ =A=+—-Hz2 R=-FB=-Z
BHREELTEREE EBaE BERFAERERE MENEERAE =A=+-H&®K
General working capital of the Head office Approximately Approximately Approximately
Group HK$3 million HK$3 million HK$NIl
rEEBz—REEES B ER OICTER=-3 - AB3EEABTT NZET
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a total of 25 employees (31
March 2021: 30). Total staff costs for the year ended 31 March 2022
increased to approximately HK$16,118,000 (2021: HK$17,597,000)
mainly due to increase in staff costs in fintech business and employees
share award scheme.

The Group’s remuneration policy is basically determined by the
performance of individual employees and Directors and the market
condition. In addition to salaries and discretionary bonuses, employee
benefits included medical schemes, pension contributions, share
option schemes and staff training.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Gold and Jewellery business
The Group commenced its Gold and Jewellery Business in 2015 and
continued to develop this business in the period under review.

During the period under review, the Group’s Gold and Jewellery
Business included wholesale and retail of jewellery and related
ancillary business (including but not limited to custom-made jewellery,
valet-procurement of jewellery and various after-sales services), and
most of the processing businesses are performed in the form of
commissioned processing by external factories. The gold and jewellery
products sold by the Group mainly included gold jewellery, platinum
jewellery, diamond jewellery, gemstone jewellery, emerald and karat
gold jewellery.

B & & B R

R —F=ZA=+—H8 AEBZEER
HABANCZE-—F=ZA=+—H:30A)°
R BHE-_ - —"F=A=+—HItFE
8 T A AN 42 58 12 )1 = #916,118,0008 7T (= F
T 17,597,000 7T) - FEBR S BEIE
EBHB TR AE M R IE B IR ZE A&
FTER °

AEEZHFHBER-—BREENEERES
ZERAFTREE - GHERBBESIN
BERMNBEERES  BRARSHK Bk
BETBIN BT -

FBEEKRRE

EERKEER
AEER-_Z-HAFRAREFSAKREER
KRB NEEERILER -

REBEHA AEEBz2ae hREXHEE
KEMNILE  FTEREBEER (BRES
RARETREHN KERBEHLERE
BIRTG) > MEFFRZMTEBRZHRAE
FESMNBITRIN TR T - REBEHEN
BEeMNEERTIZRETSHM HEH
o EAHm - BEAfam  BRMKEHm -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Gold and Jewellery business (Continued)

The Group’s gold and jewellery retailing business was conducted
mainly through an offline store located in Wongtee Plaza, Futian
District, Shenzhen, the PRC, which is a franchised store of the Luk
Fook Jewellery brand. The store is required to select goods from the
suppliers designated by Luk Fook Jewellery. Upon quality inspection
by state-approved jewellery identification center and being claimed to
the store by the Group’s staff, the goods are immediately entered into
store sales system for sale. Most of the jewellery goods purchased by
the store from the suppliers were finished jewellery products, which
are generally not required to undergo reprocessing before sale.

Due to the keen competition of retailing business, the offline store
located in Wongtee Plaza is loss making during the period. The rental
agreement with Wongtee Plaza had been ended on 21 July 2021. On
the same day, the Group had terminated the franchised store of the
Luk Fook Jewellery brand. The Group still operates the wholesale of
golden jewellery products in PRC.

The Group’s jewellery wholesale business was mainly conducted
through the wholesale of jewellery products to jewellery wholesalers
by 28R A ORI BBRAE, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, where the jewellery products being wholesaled were mainly
gold jewelries. During the period under review, the Group has the
secondary membership (Z# & 8 & &) of Shanghai Gold Exchange
and continued to develop the secondary gold sales agency business
(B4 - HARIEEFS). The Group may place orders for bullion via the
online trading platform of Shanghai Gold Exchange. After claiming the
bullion, the Group may commission external factories to process into
finished gold jewellery and wholesale to jewellery wholesalers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Gold and Jewellery business (Continued)

The Group will continue to focus on developing its Jewellery Business.
With reference to its past sales experience, the Group intends to step
up its efforts in identifying more jewellery wholesaler customers in
South China, thereby expanding the sales channels of its secondary
gold sales agency business (& & — A& X 12 ¥ 7% ). Meanwhile,
the Group will put more efforts to raise the sales proportion to its
major high-end corporate customers (which principally purchase or
customize jewellery as corporate gifts/awards) so as to increase the
jewellery sales as well as generate profits.

The revenue from the Gold and Jewellery Business increased by
approximately HK$16,485,000 from approximately HK$57,445,000
for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$73,930,000
for the year ended 31 March 2022. The increase in revenue from the
Gold and Jewellery Business for the year under review was mainly
because of the increase in trading of golden jewellery products in the
PRC. However, the share-based payment expenses in respect of the
vesting conditions for the share options granted on 27 June 2018 and
18 December 2018 in amounting to HK$2,587,000 set off with the
operation profit in amounting to HK$516,000 resulted in loss in this
segment. Going forward, the Group will try further effort to control the
selling and administrative expenses while balancing the development
of this business.

FBEERRE@®

EERKEER(H)
AEBRBEBBINNEKRERBNER - &
ERENHELR  AREAEEZNEER
WRFRELHRERLEHES,  EMHE
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BIEREERR R WHELD - LA
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HERREEBZWEREE_T-_—F=
A=+ —H It F € #957,445,0007% 7T 1 A0 49
16,485,000 T2 EH E - T - —F=A=1+—
HIEFE 473,930,000/87C  REIEFER » &
CRHEEBZREEMDIEZEAR TR
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—E-NEXNAZF+tEtBAEZZE—-N\FE+_H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Lending business

The Group commenced its Lending Business in Hong Kong in 2016
through acquiring a group of companies with a valid money lending
licence in Hong Kong to diversify its income source. The Lending
Business continued to develop during the period under review. The
Group will pay a closer attention to the market situation and the
external economic environment and consider the possibility of further
expansion in the Lending Business.

There were six major outstanding loan receivables with the Group in
amounting to HK$30,572,000 (before allowance for credit loss) as at
31 March 2022. All of them were carried out as part of the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group and brought in interest
income to the Group.

During the year, as a result of a profit in this segment as compared
to a profit for the year ended 2021, mainly due to an increase in loan
interest income.

The Group has conducted internal risk assessment on these loan
arrangements and noted both of the borrowers have substantial
investments and assets in the PRC which support their respective
financial capability to repay the loans, thus no securities or collaterals
was sought. The purpose of the loans is to enhance their short-term
cash flow.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Fintech business
The Group commenced its Fintech Business in 2019 and continued to
develop this business in the year under review.

Since October 2019, the Group has started preparations for its
banking business at the Astana International Financial Centre
(“AIFC”). On 4 December 2020, Astana Financial Services Authority
(“AFSA”) granted Brillink Bank Corporation Limited (“Brillink Bank”) an
approval-in-principle letter for a license to conduct regulated activities
with non-retail banking customers under AIFC. Brilink Bank was
officially established in AIFC on 25 December 2020 as an indirect
non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. On 26 March 2021,
AFSA granted Brillink Bank a license to conduct regulated banking
activities, including taking deposits, granting credits, advising on credit
financing, arranging credit financing, and providing money services.
On August 2021, Brillink Bank had completed the independent
assessment of implementation of controls over the Core IT Banking
System as well as technical assessments were conducted to validate
the adequacy and effectiveness of the actual technical or security
controls implemented. The Fintech business had been started on the
same time.

As at 31 March 2022, there was deposits from customers and loans
and advances with Brillink Bank in amounting to HK$7,272,000 and
HK$13,557,000 (before allowance for credit loss) as at 31 March
2022, respectively. As a result of a loss in this segment, due mainly to
development stage.

The Group will review the market situation and the profitability of the
business periodically. Then the Group will adjust the business volume
in accordance with market demands and determine the resources to
be further allocated based upon the business volume and operating
situation from time to time.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGHRERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (“Mr. Zhang”), was appointed as the
Chairman and executive director of the Company on 12 February
2018. Mr. Zhang is in charge of the overall corporate strategies and
business development of the Group. Mr. Zhang founded a trading
company in Shenzhen and it evolved to become a global supply chain
management corporation which Mr. Zhang is currently the chairman.
Mr. Zhang is responsible for the overall strategic development of the
corporation which is a top 100 import/export corporation in the PRC
and a pioneer of supply chain management in the PRC. Mr. Zhang has
over 15 years of experience in supply chain management in the PRC.
Mr. Zhang is the vice chairman of JZ Il T EB S LE €.

From 1996 to 2003, Mr. Zhang worked in the Electronic Banking
Department of China Construction Bank, Shenzhen branch, (“CCB
Shenzhen Branch”) and mainly responsible for the development and
management of CCB Shenzhen Branch’s technology products. In the
past decade years of banking work experience, Mr. Zhang has deep
insights into the theoretical knowledge of banking, product services
and management, and is familiar with bank organizational structure,
bank products, business operations, network construction, financial
technology etc.

Mr. Zhang has led the development of the first batch of customers
of the financial technology products of CCB Shenzhen Branch,
promoted the convenience of the banking system and made a
positive contribution to the sprouting and development of science as a
supporter of the beginning of the mainland bank technology finance.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGHRERE

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee (“Ms. Chung”), was appointed
as an executive director, and the chief executive officer of the
Company on 18 May 2018. Ms. Chung has extensive professional
experience in Global brand building and investment advisory. She
was appointed as CEO and executive director of Paganini Milano (SG)
PTE Limited in early 2017, responsible for brand positioning, strategic
planning, and business development. She leads her team to develop
retail business globally. Prior to that, Ms. Chung was a director at BOCI
Securities Limited and an assistant vice president at HSBC Broking
Securities (Asia) Limited responsible for investment advisory for over
10 years, in charge of a department that make recommendations
and provide professional investment advices on asset allocation
and portfolio management. She mainly responsible for developing
and maintaining strategic asset management plans for the assigned
portfolio and managing relationships with various financial institutions
like hedge funds, private equity firms and listing companies. Besides
that, she achieved portfolio investment targets by analyzing and
recommending asset allocation, disposition and evaluating alternative
investment opportunities to clients.

Ms. Chung graduated at Rutgers University, and started her
professional career at General Electric Capital Corporation in the
United States of America and she joined AT. Kearney (Hong Kong)
Limited after returning Hong Kong.

Ms. Zhang Chunping (“Ms. Zhang”), was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 12 February 2018. Ms. Zhang
has over 15 years of experience in financial management in the PRC
and she is the vice president of China Brilliant (Shenzhen). Ms. Zhang
is responsible for overseeing the financial operation of the corporation
and liaising with various bankers of the corporation for banking
facilities and other services.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGHRERE

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (“Ms. Chan”), was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 12 February 2018. Ms. Chan
is also the Chairman of the audit committee (“Audit Committee”) of the
Company and a member of the Nomination Committee. Ms. Chan is a
finance expert with more than 20 years professional and commercial
exposure in international accounting firm, multinational corporations
and Hong Kong listed companies. She served as a Principal of Crowe
Horwath (HK) CPA Limited. Ms. Chan graduated from the University
of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in accounting. She also holds
a master degree in business administration from the University
of Manchester. Ms. Chan is the member of certain professional
associations. Ms. Chan was Committee member and Chairman, SME
Sub-committee of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
("ACCAY) for 9 years. She is elected in the ACCA Global Council
Election in December 2017. She was a member of ACCA Resource
Oversight Committee since November 2018. She was a member of
ACCA Resource Oversight Committee and International Assembly.

Mr. Zhang Weidong, joined the Group in 31 May 2021 as an
independent non-executive director of Brillink Bank Corporation
Limited and appointed as an independent non-executive Director,
a member of the Audit Committee and the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee of the Group on 12 November 2021.

Mr. Zhang Weidong was the founding partner and president of Alpha
Win Capital Limited. He was an executive director of OP Financial
Investments Limited (stock code: 1140) and a partner of Oriental
Patron Financial Group primarily responsible for private equity
investments. Mr. Zhang Weidong has over 14 years of experience in
the operation and management of commercial banking, during which
he worked in the International Business Department of ICBC with his
final position as deputy general manager grade of the department.
During his tenor with ICBC, Mr. Zhang Weidong spent 3 years in
ICBC Almaty Branch, where he was in charge of treasury, credit
lending and office operations. Moreover, Mr. Zhang Weidong has
12 years of investment banking experience, served as an executive
director of ICEA Finance Group (the investment banking arm of ICBC)
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGHRERE

and managing director of Alpha Alliance Finance Holdings Limited,
responsible for corporate finance and sales department respectively.
He is also an independent non-executive Director of Tianjin Port
Development Holdings Limited (stock code: 3382) and ZZ Technology
Group Company Limited (formerly: Zhongjin Technology Service
Group Company Limited, stock code: 8295). Mr. Zhang Weidong
holds a master degree from Renmin University of China in Economics,
a diploma of Programme for Management Development of Harvard
Business School and held a fellowship from Columbia University in
New York.

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean (“Ms. Lee”), was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 12 February 2018. Ms. Lee
is also the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member
of both the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee. Ms.
Lee was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of
Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (stock code: 08018) on
September 2013. Prior to that Ms. Lee obtained a degree of Master
of Business Administration (Executive) at City U in October 2014. Ms.
Lee also obtained her Doctor of Business Administration from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 2018.

Ms. Lee is currently Wealth Management Director at AlA International
Ltd Hong Kong. Before that Ms. Lee run her own business in luxury
fur retail. From 2006-2012 Ms. Lee worked for King Fook Holdings
Limited and her last position was director of sales and brand
development, Greater China. From October 2012 to January 2015, Ms.
Lee worked for Boucheron Hong Kong Limited as a retail director. Ms.
Lee was a director of Yan Oi Tong, a registered non-profit charitable
organisation, from 2010 to 2014 and 2017, 2019, 2020.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LAM John Cheung Wah (“Mr. Lam”), was appointed as the
Group’s subsidiary, Brilink Bank Corporation Limited, a director on 3
May 2022, has expensive in investment and development in banking
and real estate industry for over 30 years.

Mr. Lam joined the Nanfung Group in 2013 and was the Vice Chairman
and Executive Director of Nan Fung Property Holdings Limited which
is engaged in property investments and development in China. He sits
on various committees of business and was responsible for general
management of the organizations.

Prior to this, he was an Executive Director of Dah Sing Bank, Limited
and a Director of Dah Sing Securities Limited, Dah Sing Life Assurance
Co. Limited and Dah Sing Bank (China) Limited.

Mr. Lam was employed by Hang Seng Bank Limited as an assistant
general manager from 2003 to 2005. Before Hang Seng Bank Limited,
Mr. Lam worked in various senior positions in The Hongkong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited and the Royal Bank of Canada
for over 21 years. He is an advisor of Brilliant Bank Corporation Limited
currently.

Mr. Lam obtained in June 1988 and June 1977, respectively, a
Bachelor’'s Degree in Business Management and a Marketing Diploma
from Ryerson Polytechnical Institute, now Ryerson University in
Toronto, Canada. And was designated as a Fellow of the Institute of
Canadian Bankers in 1980.

Mr. Lam is the Vice Chairman of China Real Estate Chamber of
Commerce Hong Kong and International Chapter Limited, member of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference Guangzhou
Committee and as a Senior Advisor to the Greater Bay Area
Association.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGHRERE

Mr. Chan Koon Fat (“Mr. Chan”) has been appointed as the
chief financial officer, Company Secretary and the Authorised
Representative of the Company on 12 February 2018. Mr. Chan, has
over 20 years of experience in the areas of capital markets, accounting
and finance, investment and corporate management covering a
number of industry sectors such as real estate, medical and garment.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Chan is the chief financial officer and
company secretary of On Real International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8245) from March 2016 to August 2017 and is responsible for
all financial, accounting, investment and corporate finance matters.
Since August 2007, Mr. Chan held senior positions including chief
financial officer, financial controller and company secretary of certain
companies which were listed on Singapore Exchange Limited. Mr.
Chan holds a Master of Business Administration (Financial Services)
of Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a bachelor degree in
accounting of Lingnan University, Hong Kong. He is a fellow and
practicing member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

The Director of the Company are pleased to present the annual report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note
40 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by principal activities for
the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are set out in the

financial statements on pages 89 to 228.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year under review is set
out in the Management Discussion and Analysis section of this annual
report on pages 7 to 17.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION HBEREE
The following is a summary of the published results and assets and AEBBTRAEMREEEHECEENE
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years. EREEHENAT -
Results E
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
S —To—F ZE-THF —T-hF ZE-N\E
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET T T T T FHT
Revenue W a8 77,806 59,038 100,560 84,047 64,739
Loss before tax RITAIEE (46,154) (38,277) (35,033) (53,994) (18,180)
Income tax expense FriS M= - - (39) (12) 272)
(46,154) (88,277) (85,072) (54,006) (18,452)
Discontinued operation EHRIEEEETE
(Loss)/profit for the year REBE &I
from discontinued BEXKZ
operation FAN(BE)
/i - (867) (3,039) - 41,770
(Loss)/profit for the year AArERFEAA
attributable to equity FEIEF A (EE)
holders of the Company Vet (46,154) (39,144) (38,111) (54,006) 23,318
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued) BEEREEE
Assets and Liabilities EEREE

As at 31 March

m=A=+—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E=-= —Eo—F —E-FE —E-HE —E-)\E
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAET T T T T FHET
Property, plant and W BEREZE
equipment 1,385 2,189 2,418 3,267 1,687
Right-of-use assets CREEE 170 2,085 4,071 - -
Investment property wEWME - - - 11,107 12,299
Intangible assets BEEE 14,375 - - - -
Prepayments A /1B - 4,670 - - 156
Available-for-sale investments 7] {ft H & & & - - - - 15,000
Goodwill kS - - - 1,765 4,679
Interest in an associate i RN Iy - - 482 9,883 -
Loan receivables FE W E 3 - - - 2,259 -
Current assets mENEE 152,871 154,466 92,386 117,238 80,579
Current liabilities mEBE (93,662) (9,415) (8,535) (22,964) (26,550)
Non-current liabilities EmEBAE - (70,515) (2,270) - -
Net assets BEEFE 75,139 83,480 88,552 122,555 87,850
Share capital N 145,724 145,724 145,245 145,096 121,096
Reserves s (119,494) (84,535) (56,693) (22,541) (33,246)
Equity attributable to owners AN2 715 H A FE 1
of the Company T 26,230 61,189 88,552 122,555 87,850

Non-controlling interests IEVE IR M 2 48,909 22,291 - - -
Total equity R BT 75,139 83,480 88,552 122,555 87,850
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in notes 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of movements in the Intangible assets of the Group during the
year are set out in notes 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 34 and 35 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association (the “Articles of Association”) or the laws of
the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company
was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”).

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company'’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2022.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, respectively.

ME- - BERRE

AEENE  BERRERFRNZBBHE
BRSBTS R T HE16 -

BEEE

AEBELEERFRNZEHABIANEE
B TS SRR Y 5218 ©

B AN B AR 4
ARTRARBRERF N2 ZBFESH 5
BN B 5 R M EEBAR35 -
BrEE#E
AARMBER M (M ERER ) HMS
RS (RD MM L 2 25 E) & P13 4

HIVERBERG UREARRARL
BIaARBRERR(BRDEEHR KN -

B BEZHEAQRT 2z LHE

3

NEE-_ZT-__F=A=1+t—"HILFE AR
RINEFMNBEA A MERES B HE
AKRBMEMLETES

2

iR
ARRRAEEZBHERERNZBBHED

MERGEEM BRI ABREEREED
KA e

2021/22 4R | BREEIREBERAT

27



28

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company had no reserves available
for distribution as calculated in accordance with the Companies
Law (2001 Revision) of the Cayman Islands. Under the laws of the
Cayman lIslands, the share premium account is distributable to the
Shareholders provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be
in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. The share premium account may also be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 89% (2021: 82%) of the
Group’s total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer
included therein accounted for approximately 46% (2021: 22%) of the
Group’s total sales.

During the year under review, supplies from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 100% (2021: 94%) of the
Group’s total purchases and purchases from the Group’s largest
supplier included therein accounted for approximately 99% (2021:
90%) of the Group’s total purchases.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or any of their
associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND SERVICES AND
ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group recognises the importance of environmental sustainability
against modern ecological challenges. Therefore, the Group
committed to the long-term sustainability of its businesses and
the communities with which it engages. The Group pursues this
business approach by managing its business prudently and executing
management decisions with due care and attention. The Group
is committed to acting in an environmentally responsible manner.
Recycling and use of ecofriendly stationery, plus a series of measures
to save paper and energy, resulted in more efficient use of resources,
as well as reduction of waste.

Further details of the Groups environmental, social and governance
initiatives are set out in the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” on the pages 61 to 79.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Continuous dialogue is maintained with stakeholders that include
customers, employees, regulators and the public. The Company
seeks to balance the views and interests of these various stakeholders
through constructive conversations with a view to charting a course
for the long-term prosperity of the Company and the communities we
touch.

EMPLOYEES

Hard-working and dedicated employees are the backbone of a
company. The Company treasures its loyal and industrious staff
members. In addition, it adopts non-discriminatory hiring and
employment practices and strives to provide a safe and healthy
workplace.

GOVERNMENT/COMMUNITY

The Group recognises the importance of contributing within the
local community and the Group encourage its people to develop
close links with charities, schools and other institutions, both locally
and nationally, to help to build more economically sustainable local
environments. Strenuous efforts are exerted to ensure compliance
with the laws and regulations of the jurisdictions in which the Company
operates.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company who held office during the year and up
to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Chairman)
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee
Ms. Zhang Chunping

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy

Mr. Kwan Chi Hong (resigned on 12 November 2021)
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean

Mr. Zhang Weidong (appointed on 12 November 2021)

In accordance with article 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhang
Chunhua, Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee and Mr. Zhang Weidong will
retire from office and, being eligible to offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“AGM”).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’
CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The
Company considers all of its independent non-executive Directors to
be independent.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Zhang Chunhua, an executive director, entered into a Director’s
service contract with the Company for a fixed term of three years,
commencing from 12 February 2018, and thereafter be continuous
until terminated by either party by serving on the other party not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing, and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee, an executive director, entered into a
Director’s service contract with the Company for a fixed term of three
years, commencing from 18 May 2018, and thereafter be continuous
until terminated by either party by serving on the other party not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing, and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

Ms. Zhang Chunping, an executive director, entered into a Director’s
service contract with the Company for a fixed term of three years,
commencing from 12 February 2018, and thereafter be continuous
until terminated by either party by serving on the other party not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing, and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy, an independent non-executive director,
entered into a Director’s service contract with the Company for a
fixed term of three years, commencing from 12 February 2018, and
thereafter be continuous until terminated by either party by serving on
the other party not less than one month’s prior notice in writing, and is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean, an independent non-executive director,
entered into a Director’'s service contract with the Company for a
fixed term of three years, commencing from 12 February 2018, and
thereafter be continuous until terminated by either party by serving on
the other party not less than one month’s prior notice in writing, and is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (Continued)

Mr. Zhang Weidong, an independent non-executive director, entered
into a Director’s service contract with the Company for a fixed term
of three years, commencing from 12 November 2021, and thereafter
be continuous until terminated by either party by serving on the other
party not less than one month’s prior notice in writing, and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Board are authorised by the Shareholders in general meeting to
fix the Directors’ remuneration. Other emoluments are determined
by the Board with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance, the results of the Group as well as the prevailing market
conditions.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in
note 42 to the consolidated financial statements. Such transactions
did not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors confirmed that during the year under review, the
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had a material beneficial interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
during the year.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, CHIEF
EXECUTIVE AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, chief executive and the five

highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in Notes 11 and 12 to
the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRG

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopts and administers a share option scheme which is
currently in force and effect for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations.

The current share option scheme was approved by the Shareholders
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 10 September
2021 (the “2021 Scheme”) in place of the previous share option
scheme of the Company which was adopted in August 2011 and
expired in August 2021 (the “2011 Scheme”). Options granted under
the 2011 Scheme which remained outstanding are set out below.

A summary of the 2021 Scheme is set out below:

The 2021 Scheme became effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on 10 September 2021. Eligible participants of the 2021
Scheme include the employees and directors of the Group, business
partners, agents, consultants or advisers appointed by the Group.
Under the 2021 Scheme, The subscription price for Shares under the
New Share Option Scheme may be determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion, provided that it shall not be less than the highest
of: (i) the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as shown
in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the Offer Date,
which must be a Business Day; (ii) the average of the closing prices
of the Shares as shown in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five (5) consecutive Business Days immediately
preceding the Offer Date; and (jii) the nominal value of the Share on
the Offer Date. A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by
the grantee upon acceptance of an Option. An offer of the grant of
an Option shall be deemed to have been accepted by an Eligible
Participant concerned in respect of all Shares which are offered
to such Eligible Participant when the duplicate letter comprising
acceptance of the Offer duly signed by the Eligible Participant with
the number of Shares in respect of which the Offer is accepted
stated therein, together with a remittance in favour of the Company of
HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by
the Company within twenty-one (21) days from the Offer Date (or such
shorter period referred to in the paragraph above).

No share option was granted under 2021 Scheme.
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EETHE
SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) BREE @)
2011 scheme —E2——F58

Further details of the 2011 Scheme are disclosed in note 35 to the BT —— T8N E—PHFBEREEM

consolidated financial statements. TR M FES5HE EE -
Number of share options
Granted  Exercised Lapsed As at Exercise period  Exercise price
Name or category of Asat  duringthe duringthe  during the 31 March Date of share of share options of share options
participant 1 April 2021 period period period 2022  options granted* granted granted**
RZB=-F RZBZZF B BHBEREz RuBREZ
SREABAER MA-B  Haid BATE  BR%R ZA=t-H bl TRER e
HKS per share
A(ER)
Directors
B2
Mr. Zhang Chunhua 13,800,000 - - - 13,800,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 to 0.59
26 June 2028
REERAE —T-N\E ZENE
NAZTEE ~NAZTERZE
“ZT-\F
~NAZTAE
Ms. Zhang Chunping 13,800,000 - - - 13,800,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 to 0.59
26 June 2028
REERT —EN\E ZE-NE
~NAZt+H ANAZTERAZE
—ZTCN\E
~NAZTAA
Ms. Chung Elizabeth 13,800,000 - - - 13,800,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 1o 059
Ching Yee 26 June 2028
ERELt —BN\E ZENE
~NAZt+H ~NAZTEAZ
—BONE
~NAZTAE
Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy 300,000 - - - 300,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 to 0.59
26 June 2028
RERZT —T-N\F ZZ-NE
~NAZTEE ~AAZTERZE
“ZTo)\F
~NAZTRE
200,000 - - - 200,000 18 December 2018 18 December 2019 to 0.33
18 December 2028
—Z-N\F ZZ-NE
+ZA+/NA TZATNRE
—ToN\E
TZAT/\H
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) BREE @)

2011 scheme (Continued) —E——FFE(E)

Number of share options
BREHE
Granted  Exercised Lapsed As at Exercise period  Exercise price
Name or category of Asat  duringthe  duringthe  during the 31 March Date of share of share options of share options
participant 1 April 2021 period period period 2022  options granted* granted granted**
R=B=-F R=F=Z= Bk BEBEREz RuBREZ
SREABAER MA-B  HakE BATE  BR%R ZA=t-H B AH THEER TEE"
HKS per share
B(ER)
E)irectors (Continued)
EE(A)
Mr. Kwan Chi Hong 150,000 - - (150,000) - 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 o 0.59
(resigned on 12 26 June 2028
November 2021)
BEEEE “E-N\F ZE-nE
(R-B=—F AAZHEA AAZTEHEE
+-A+=RE1) “ZI-\F
~NAZTRH
100,000 - - (100,000) - 18 December 2018 18 December 2019 to 0.33
18 December 2028
—2N\E ZE-0E
TZATAR TZATNAZE
—Bo)NE
TZAT/\B
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, 300,000 - - - 300,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 1o 059
May Jean 26 June 2028
A+ ‘ —Z-N\F ‘ ZZ-NE
8 RE=TtA AA=TtRE
ZBONE
~RAZTRH
200,000 - - - 200,000 18 December 2018 18 December 2019 to 0.33
18 December 2028
ZE-N\E ZZ-NE
TZATAR TZATNHZE
—B2oNE
+ZA+/NE
42,650,000 - - (250,000) 42,400,000
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) LR T )
2011 scheme (Continued) —E——FFEE)
Number of s_I]are options
BEREYA
Granted  Exercised Lapsed As at Exercise period  Exercise price
Name or category of Asat  duringthe  duringthe  during the 31 March Date of share of share options of share options
participant 1 April 2021 period period period 2022  options granted* granted granted**
R=B=-% R=B==f Bk BiBERE, RuBEREZ
SEEEBAER MA-B  HARE WATE  BR%R =A=t-H bl TEMR fTEE"
HK$ per share
BTER)
Employees of the Group
F5ERES
In aggregate 15,460,000 - - (2,300,000 13,160,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 1o 0.59
26 June 2028
a4t L ot
NAZt++H ~NAZTEEE
o \E
~NAZTRE
Others
Hit
In aggregate 16,600,000 - - - 16,600,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 1o 059
26 June 2028
At —Z-N\F ZZ-NE
NAZtH+A ~NAZTtAZ
o N\E
NAZTRE
34,700,000 - - - 34,700,000 18 December 2018 18 December 2019 to 0.33
18 December 2028
—E\F ZE-NE
+ZA+N\H TZATN\BZE
SN2
TZATNA
51,300,000 - - - 51,300,000
109,410,000 - - (2,550,000) 106,860,000

The time of acceptance of the share options was within 21 days from the * EREZMREAEBREZSLH A BB

options offer date. The share options granted are subject to certain vesting AR - RESERENEZHAT  IBREZE
period and vary for each category of participant as specified under the REFRETRALEERIMZE TTRZEE
respective share option schemes. HAFTHRBR ©

o

The exercise price of the share options is subject to some adjustments in the o R ZITEELERNAIRETT  HARQF]
case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s BR7N % = H b AL B e] T A% o
share capital.

***  There were no share options granted and exercised during the year. oo FRWERE RITEBRE -

As at 31 March 2022, the Company had outstanding options to R-ZZE-_—F=ZA=+—8 ARQRARE=
subscribe for up to 106,860,000 shares under the 2011 Scheme. T-——FHEBERNRTEERETRERS

106,860,000/% & 7 °
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which
were notified to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were, pursuant
to the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors
adopted by the Company, notified to the Company and the Exchange,
were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company

EERFEITHRAERRGKRERH
RigzEERER

RZEBZZF=A=+—H ' EFRFETHK
ABRARBHEERBBER (TR RES
KBGO (TFS R R EXVED) 2 Ik
P RAERERG T - HEREEFRPEGRD
EXVEBETR 857 BB R & & AN KBk 52 P
2R KXE (BRERBERES L EERDIEE
X REREEIRRAEB I ERIORE)
HRLHENARBIRIEE 5N B E 555352
FRBEFZELMAZERS AR - HRE
RRARFRAEBEFETEFRHZITR
STRIZE & ANA A R B BT 2 #E s SOk B
T

RAQTEBERZEFR

Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share

capital
HARQTERT
Number of BABSLE
Name of Director Notes Capacity and nature of interest ordinary shares Note (8)
EEME M BORERSREE BERHE Bt 5(8)
Mr. Zhang Chunhua (1) Interest of a controlled corporation 834,851,294 57.29%
REERSE —EREH ARz
Mr. Zhang Chunhua (2)  Personal interest 57,098,000 3.92%
REESRE 18 ARE 2
Ms. Zhang Chunping (8)  Personal interest 13,800,000 0.95%
RAEFLZ T &l A 25
Ms. Chung Elizabeth Ching Yee (4)  Personal interest 16,609,000 1.14%
BEEHELL (EPN- F
Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (6)  Personal interest 500,000 0.03%
fRE B 2+ 18 ARE 2
Mr. Kwan Chi Hong (6) Personal interest 500,000 0.03%
(resigned on 12 November
2021)
MEELER - —F 1B A 2
+—A+ZHEMT)
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean (7)  Personal interest 500,000 0.03%

FHEPLL

I A 25
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company
(Continued)

Notes:

(1)

(C)

Save

834,851,294 shares of the Company are held by Brilliant Chapter Limited
and its entire issued share capital is held 20% by Source Mega Limited, a
company incorporated in the Republic of Seychelles. The directors of Brilliant
Chapter Limited are Mr. Zhang Chunhua and Ms. Zhang Chunping and the
sole director of Source Mega Limited is Ms. Zhang Chunping. Ms. Zhang
Chunping is the executive director of the Company. Mr. Zhang Chunhua
is the brother of Ms. Zhang Chunping. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Zhang
Chunhua is deemed to be interested in 834,851,294 shares of the Company
held by Brilliant Chapter Limited.

Mr. Zhang Chunhua is personally interested in 43,298,000 shares of the
Company. In addition, he is also entitled to his share options to subscribe for
18,800,000 shares of the Company in his capacity as a director of the Group.

Ms. Zhang Chunping is entitled to her share options to subscribe for
13,800,000 shares of the Company in her capacity as a director of the
Group.

Ms. Chung Elizabeth Ching Yee is personally interested in 2,809,000 shares
of the Company. In addition, she is also entitled to her share options to
subscribe for 13,800,000 shares of the Company in her capacity as a
director of the Group.

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy is entitled to her share options to subscribe for
500,000 shares of the Company in her capacity as a director of the Group.

Mr. Kwan Chi Hong is personally interested in 250,000 shares of the
Company. In addition, he is also entitled to his share options to subscribe for
250,000 shares of the Company in his capacity as a director of the Group.
He has resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 12 November
2021.

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean is entitled to her share options to subscribe for
500,000 shares of the Company in her capacity as a director of the Group.

Based on 1,457,238,414 shares in the Company in issue as at 31 March
2022.

as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors

and chief executive of the Company had an interest or short position
in the ordinary shares or underlying shares of the Company or any of
its associated corporations that was notified to the Company and the
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or was
required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to Rule
5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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BEERFETHAEBRKRDRIEEE
Rz RERXRKE (@)

REXTEBRZFZ (8)

B 5

(1) Briliant Chapter Limited 5 834,851,294 % 7% A
Al fp - B A 2 302 317 R 7N B Source Mega
Limited (—E R EFBAEMBEZEMK L 2 AR 75
A20% © Brilliant Chapter Limited 2 & % &3k & &
fERKREFLZT o REF 2+ HSource Mega
LimitedZ M —E F - REF LT ABARRRZHT
EF - REFEXEARBIRLIZMA - 1BE
FBHRHEG - ok E LA WR B Briliant
Chapter Limited #%5 5 2 834,851,294 % 4~ &) % {5
FHEAREL -

@ REERENRANRT 243,298,000 % 15 + #
BEARER - 1IN BMAIUASKEZES Y

1 % A 7] 3% 85 X 2 713,800,000 % A 7 2 f A
-

Q) REFZITAUAKEZEZZNZAARE
787X 7]13,800,000 /% A% 17 2 B A% 4 o

@  EEELZETRARF 22809000085 FH#ES
AR ° WO BMAIUNAEBZEEHH
=5 A R A2 R]13,800,0000% Ak 1 2 RERR 4 o

6) MREBRLIAUAEBZzESFHZAARE
7R A A)500,0000% B% (7 2 FE A% 8 o

(6) BERESLENRANATZ250,0000KmDFELE
AR o o B UAEBZEESNE
B AR B8 N2 F)250,000 0% A% 10 2 BE AR 4 o 1R
T —F+—A+-_HABEAEB I IEHTE
$ o

(7) ZHIPLTANUREEZEEGNZTAARE
XX F500,0008% B 17 2 BB B #E -

8 WER-ZE-_—_F=-ZA=Z+—HBEBETZ
1,457,238, M4 A R A IR (A 5T & ©

BrEXATEEEN RZE—F=A=1+—
B ARBIZEENEETHAERARAK
HAA MR AR 2L AR s AR B A 15 Rt 4
BEREZBAFRBEGAIEXVEETRESSD
EHEMEANG MBI ZERTAE 3
RIEEENPEKRDIEI5AEBFT O - iR
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option Schemes”
and “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions
in Shares and Underlying Shares” above, at no time during the year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company granted to any of the Directors or
their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or nor was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2022, shareholders (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares or underlying shares
of the company

ESRERMESESFZEF

REXBEREFEI R EERERTBRAR
R BB B D 2 4 25 KOR B | B AT i B8
EFH RFEAEAEEBERAE@NES  ®
EEEBHIARKNFFRAELERBEAAT]
ZBinsiEsmEm 2N - RF IR ET
AR FAE R ANA R R EAE A E R T IR
BEITVAIREE R EMEMEABRBER
AZERN 2 E LB -

FTERRZEZRKE

RIZE-—F=A=+—H REARAKRNH=K
MR A RIEEZ & BEERDIEXVES
F2RFEID B2 IGRXAMARB R IE » LB
FEERN AR BIRIRE 77 M B 1R F 55 33615 78
BEZECMIERAIREZRR(RNAFE
EXTETHRABRINDOT

AN
)

)

RAQAEBRFHEBARGZHER

Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share

Number of capital

ordinary shares P N |

or underlying BEITRA

shares BSLE

Name of shareholder Notes Capacity and nature of interest BERE Note (3)

BREE Mz SPRESEER HEARIZEE B ()

Brilliant Chapter Limited (1)  Beneficially owned 834,851,294 57.29%

EmMa

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (2)  Interest of a controlled corporation 834,851,294 57.29%
REERSE —EREH AR Z S

(2)  Personal interest 57,098,000 3.92%

(BN E
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares or underlying shares
of the company (Continued)

Notes:

(1) Brilliant Chapter Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Republic of Seychelles and its issued share capital is beneficially owned as
to 80% by Mr. Zhang Chunhua and as to 20% by Source Mega Limited, a
company incorporated in the Republic of Seychelles (as a nominee of Ms.
Zhang Chunping). Mr. Zhang Chunhua is the brother of Ms. Zhang Chunping.

) Mr. Zhang Chunhua is personally interested in 43,298,000 shares of the
Company. In addition, he is also entitled to his share options to subscribe for
18,800,000 shares of the Company in his capacity as a director of the Group.

) Based on 1,457,238,414 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March
2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

None of the Directors or the controlling Shareholders of the Company
or their respective associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules)
have any interests in a business which competes or may compete with
the business of the Group, or has any other conflict of interest with the
Group during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is formulated
by the remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee”) on the basis of their performance, qualifications and
competence. As incentives for their contributions to the Group,
the employees of the Group and all the Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors)
may also be granted share options by the Company from time to time
pursuant to the share option scheme.

The emoluments of the Directors are either determined by the
Remuneration Committee or recommended to the Board, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance
and comparable market remuneration packages for executive and
non-executive directors of listed issuers in Hong Kong.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) on
7 March 2000 and has formulated and from time to time amended its
written terms of reference in accordance with the provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”).

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting system and risk
management and internal control procedures, review of the Group’s
financial information and review of the Group’s relationship with its
auditors.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (Chairman of the Audit
Committee), Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr. Zhang Weidong
(appointed on 12 November 2021).

The Group’s audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, who is of the
opinion that such statements comply with the applicable accounting
standards, the GEM Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Directors considered that the Company has complied with all the
code provisions set out in the CG Code as contained in Appendix 15
to the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year under review.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the GEM Listing Rules based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors.

EREET

ARBER-_ZEZTZEF=-ALHAKIERZ
Eg((#%%88)) YERELEEXEATH
(TR EA 57 /D) B 88 2 16 S BT R AN B 48
RIHEmBERE -

BERZEGZIZREBRENARERAE
B 2 B 755 B R 5 R I LB B EE Ko R RB AR AR
Fr o~ AR E 2 M5 E B Rm af AN R B
HAZ A2 B R -

ERZEeR-RBUIFRTEERERL
T(ERZEGIR) FTHIKIRERHRSE
ER=F_—F+—-A+-BEZDAEK -

REBHE-_T-__F=A=+T—HIFEZ
KEZVBERRCAEZEZETERN - B
ZECRAZSHREFTEAERZg 2 -
GEMEMRAEEZFER - WEEH TS

& o
tEEATH
REECBEFEN EFRALAF—HHE

STGEM EmRAIME T Az L EER T
Al Z B T RIS -

RADRIFRE
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

AUDITOR
The accounts for the year were audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited
(“Elite”) whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming AGM. A

resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Elite
as auditors of the Group.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Zhang Chunhua
Chairman

Hong Kong
24 June 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERWE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance with a view to assuring the conduct of management of
the Company as well as protecting the interests of all Shareholders.
The good corporate governance principles adopted by the Company
emphasise a quality board for leading and controlling of the Company,
effective internal controls, transparency and accountability to all
Shareholders.

The Company’s code of corporate governance practices was adopted
with reference to the CG Code and Corporate Governance Report
(“CG Report”) as contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Company has complied with the
provisions of the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules. In response to specific enquiry made by the
Company, each of the Directors gave confirmation that he complied
with the required standard of dealings and the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors throughout the year
ended 31 March 2022.

INSIDER INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company is fully aware of its
obligations under the new Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, Chapter 571 and Rules 17.10, 17.11 and 17.11A of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Board has adopted a policy which contains the
guideline to the Directors and officers of the Company to ensure that
the inside information of the Company is to be disseminated to public
in an equal and timely manner in accordance with the applicable laws
and regulations.

EEXEAER
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ERERWE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

During the year under review, Mr. Zhang Chunhua, Ms. Chung,
Elizabeth Ching Yee and Ms. Zhang Chunping were continuously
appointed as executive Directors.

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr.
Zhang Weidong (appointed on 12 November 2021) were continuously
appointed as independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Kwan
Chi Hong resigned as independent non-executive Director on 12
November 2021.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
All Directors, gave sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2022. Each executive Director
has sufficient experience to hold the position so as to carry out his/
her duties effectively and efficiently. In full compliance with Rules
5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company had in place
three independent non-executive Directors and at least one of whom
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. They provided the Company with
diversified industry expertise, advised the management on strategic
development and assumed that the Board maintains high standard of
compliance with financial and other mandatory reporting requirements
as well as provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard the
interests of shareholders and the Company as a whole.
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ERERWE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Composition (Continued)

The Board as at 31 March 2022 comprised:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Chairman)
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Zhang Chunping

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean

Mr. Zhang Weidong (appointed on 12 November 2021)
Mr. Kwan Chi Hong (resigned on 12 November 2021)

The names, biographical details of the Directors and the relationships
among them are set out in the “Directors and Senior Management”
section of this annual report.

An updated list of the Directors identifying their roles and functions
from time to time is posted on the website of the Exchange and the
Company’s website from time to time.

EEEW
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ERERWE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

During the year under review, the Chairman was responsible for
ensuring that the Board functions effectively and smoothly. In doing so,
the Chairman ensured that good corporate governance practices were
adhered to and proper procedures were established and followed,
and that all Directors were properly briefed and received all relevant
information prior to each Board meeting. The Chairman was also
responsible for overseeing the implementation of corporate strategies
of the Group. The Board considers that the current arrangement is
adequate in view of the size and complexity of the Group’s operations.
The Board will, nonetheless, review the business growth of the Group
and locate suitable candidate to fill the vacancy of the chief executive
officer when considered essential and will continue setting out a
clear division of responsibilities at the board level and the day-to-day
management team to ensure a proper balance of power and authority
within the Company.

The role of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate and

exercised by different individual which complies with the CG Code
provision A.2.1.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board meetings

The Board meets in person or through electronic means of
communication at least four times every year. Notice of at least 14
days for all Board meetings were given to all Directors, who were all
given an opportunity to include matters in the agenda for discussion.

The company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”)
assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for each meeting,
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations regarding the
meetings are observed. The finalised agenda and accompanying
Board papers are then sent to all Directors prior to each meeting.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the individual attendance record of
each Director is as follows:
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®
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EEEEE
EFEURBHELAARETRATAEF
ELEHRMNREH  FAEEEEERTEN
SREEFHZOUEBN SEFHER
EEERZRENIATHER -

AREz ARME (RAWE]D BB ER R
Ee@ZIR IHMREBEIZZMEERR
EREHEERET BRBEELIERER
M EEEXMHRESESSRARNEX
REREF-
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m

N

A

N
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BE_ T F=-A=T—HILFE REF
EEHFEERZBEET:

Directors Attendance
¥ i FE R B
Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Chairman) 5/5
REESXE(EE)

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee 5/5
ERHEL L

Ms. Zhang Chunping 5/5
RENFZ T

Independent non-executive Directors

BIYBTES

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy 5/5
PRER 2+

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean 5/5
FHEALL

Mr. Zhang Weidong (appointed on 12 November 2021) 11
RERAER-FE-_—F+—H+TZHEZF)

Mr. Kwan Chi Hong (resigned on 12 November 2021) 2/4

BEREER-_F-_—F+—HAF+ZHET)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board meetings (Continued)

Code provision A.6.3 of the CG Code requires every director should
ensure that he can give sufficient time and attention to the issuer’s
affairs and should not accept the appointment if he cannot do so.

The Board held five regular meetings for the year ended 31 March
2022. During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discussed
and formulated the overall strategies of the Company, monitored
financial performances and discussed the annual and interim results,
set annual budgets, as well as discussed and decided on other
significant matters.

Apart from the regular Board meetings of the year, the Board met on
other occasions when a board-level decision on a particular matter
was required. The Directors would receive the agenda and documents
to be tabled for consideration in advance of each Board meeting.

The Company Secretary recorded the proceedings of each Board
meeting in details by keeping detailed minutes, including all decisions
made by the Board together with concerns raised and dissenting
views expressed (if any). Draft Board minutes were circulated to all
Directors for comments and approval as soon as practicable after the
meeting. All minutes are open for inspection by the Directors at any
reasonable time on their request. All Directors have access to relevant
and timely information at all times as the Chairman ensures that
management will supply the Board and its committees with all relevant
information in a timely manner.

During the year, the Company provides regular updates on the
business performance of the Group to the Directors, so as to ensure
that they had appropriate understanding of the Group’s business and
of their duties and responsibilities under the GEM Listing Rules and the
relevant statutory and regulatory requirements.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Delegation by the Board

The Company has set out the respective functions and responsibilities
which can be reserved to the Board and delegated to management.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to executive
Directors and senior management while reserving certain key matters
for its approval. The Board is responsible for the approval and
monitoring of the Company’s overall strategies and policies, approval
of business plans; evaluating the performance of the Company and
overseeing its management. It is also responsible for promoting
the success of the Company and its businesses by directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

Decisions of the Board are communicated to the management through
executive Directors who have attended at Board meetings.

Directors’ work commitments outside the group

Directors are required to disclose in a timely manner to the Company
Secretary for any change, the number and nature of offices held in
public companies or organisations and other significant commitments,
and the identity of such public companies or organisations. Such
information is disclosed in the “Directors and Senior Management”
section of this annual report.

The Company provides newly appointed Directors with briefings
on the businesses of the Group and training materials on corporate
governance, directors’ duties and responsibilities and other matters
under the GEM Listing Rules and other relevant rules and regulations.

Directors’ liability insurance
The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to cover

the Directors’ risk exposure arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed annually.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Term of appointment and re-election

Details of the terms of appointment of the Directors are disclosed in
the section “Directors’ Service Contracts” of the report of the Directors
in this annual report. All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the general meeting in accordance with the Articles
of Association.

Every newly appointed Director is provided with a package of
orientation materials detailing the duties and responsibilities of
Directors under the GEM Listing Rules, the Articles of Association,
related ordinances and relevant regulatory requirements of Hong
Kong.

Every Director is aware that, before accepting appointment as a
Director, he/she must be able to give sufficient time and attention to
the affairs of the Company.

Under the CG Code provision A.4.2, all directors appointed to fill
a casual vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at
the first general meeting after their appointment and every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three (3) or a multiple of three (3), then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed for a
specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office only until the next following general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at the meeting
but shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or the
number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at such meeting.
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TRAINING AND CONTINUING DEVELOPMENT
FOR DIRECTORS

Under the CG Code provision A.6.5, all Directors had participated in
continuous professional development with respect to directors’ duties,
relevant programs and seminars or had perused reading materials and
updated information in relation to business and industrial development.
The Directors had provided the relevant training records for the Year to
the Company.

The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training
to all Directors for their continuous professional development. Each
Director is briefed and updated from time to time to ensure that he/
she is fully aware of his/her roles, functions, duties and responsibilities
under the Listing Rules and applicable legal and regulatory
requirements and the governance policies of the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board’s
process and communications among Board members and with the
Shareholders and the management, and advising the Board and its
committees on all corporate governance matters. He reports to the
Chairman of the Board and/or the Chief Executive Officer and her
selection, appointment or dismissal shall be a Board decision.

The Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that Board procedures and all applicable laws,
rules and regulations are followed.

Throughout the year under review, Mr. Chan Koon Fat was
continuously appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company.

In accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Chan has
taken no less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training during
the year under review.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy. The policy
sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board that should
have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Group’s business and
compliance with policies. The composition and diversity policies
of the Board is reviewed annually and regularly. The Board should
ensure that its changes in composition will not result in any undue
interference. The Board members should possess appropriate
professionalism, experience and trustworthiness in performing duties
and functions. The Board would diversify its members according to the
Company’s situations and need. While participating in nomination and
recommendation of director candidates during the year, each member
of the Board may consider a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
or professional experience in achieving diversity for the benefit of the
Company’s various business development and management. The
Board has to review the policy concerning diversity of Board members
and to disclose the policy or a summary of the policy in the corporate
governance report, including any quantitative targets and standards
and its progress with policy implementation.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends:

° the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

° the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

° the Group’s liquidity position;

° general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of

the Company; and

° other factors that the Board deems relevant. The payment of
dividend is also subject to compliance.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Audit
Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.

All Board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
committees had been amended and restated on 1 January 2019
and are posted on the website of the Exchange and the Company’s
website.

The majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee are non-executive or independent
non-executive Directors; which the list of the chairman and members
of each Board committee is set out below.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resource to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense.

Remuneration Committee

In accordance with the CG Code, the Company established the
Remuneration Committee on 17 June 2005 with written terms of
reference. The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Weidong (Chairman of
the Remuneration Committee, appointed on 12 November 2021), Ms.
Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and one executive Director, Ms. Chung,
Elizabeth Ching Yee. Mr. Kwan Chi Hong resigned the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee on 12 November 2021.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior management
and reviewing the specific remuneration packages of all executive
Directors and senior management by reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

The Remuneration Committee held two meeting during the year
under review. The individual attendance record of each Remuneration
Committee member is as follows:

Mr. Zhang Weidong (Committee Chairman,
appointed on 12 Novermber 2021)

Mr. Kwan Chi Hong (Committee Chairman,
resigned on 12 November 2021)

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean

EEZREWM)
HHMESE(H)

ZEEROEFEARKBITMARES -
FHZERERBREHFEERZRENT

RERELE(ZESEE -
RZFZ—F+—HF+ZHEZF)
BMERAE(ZEESEE
R-FE-—F+— A+ ZHEFF)
=W+

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee ER Rt

Members Attendance
4= B R B
Mr. Zhang Weidong (Committee Chairman, appointed on 12 November 2021) 0/0
REREE(ZEGERE R_T_—F+—-A+-HEZE)

Mr. Kwan Chi Hong (Committee Chairman, resigned on 12 November 2021) 1/2
BEREE(ZEEER  HNZZE—F+—ATZHHMT)

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean 2/2
FHEALL

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee 2/2
BRHE L

Details of directors’ emoluments, five highest paid individuals and the
remuneration of the members of the senior management during the
year under review are set out in notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Nomination committee

In accordance with the CG Code, the Company established the
Nomination Committee on 29 March 2012 with written terms of
reference. The Nomination Committee comprises two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean
(Chairman of the Nomination Committee) and Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy
and one executive Director, Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
formulating nomination policy and making recommendations to
the Board on nomination and appointment of Directors and Board
succession, developing selection procedures for nomination
candidates, reviewing the size, structure and composition of the
Board, as well as assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year
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under review. The individual attendance record of each Nomination SERIT
Committee member is as follows:

Members Attendance
o8- &R 8
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean (Committee Chairman) 11
FHEARL(ZEEEE/E)

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy 11
PR R 2+

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee 1/1
EFELL

Audit committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 7 March 2000
and has formulated and from time to time amended its written terms
of reference in accordance with the provisions set out in the CG
Code. The existing Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (Chairman of
the Audit Committee), Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr. Zhang
Weidong (appointed on 12 November 2021). Mr. Kwan Chi Hong
resigned the member of the Audit Committee on 12 November 2021.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting system and internal
control procedures, review of the Group’s financial information and
review of the Group’s relationship with its auditors.

The Audit Committee held six meetings during the year under review.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) EFEEEE®@)

Audit committee (Continued) EREEE(E

The individual attendance record of each Audit Committee member is EZLZESENESEHRE R 28BN T :
as follows:

Members Attendance
RE HERE
Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (Committee Chairman) 6/6
BREB T (ZEEFE)

Mr. Kwan Chi Hong (reS/gned on 12 November 2021) 5/5
BMEREE(RZE-——F—HAF+=HFHF)

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean 6/6
FHPLL

Mr. Zhang Weidong (appointed on 12 November 2021) 11

REREE(R-ZE-Z—F+—A+=HEZL)

The Group’s unaudited quarterly and interim results and audited
annual results during the year ended 31 March 2022 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee, which was of the opinion that the
preparation of such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure has been
made.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Audit Committee of the Company is responsible for considering
and reviewing the appointment of the external auditors and reviewing
any non-audit functions performed by the external auditors, including
whether such non-audit functions could lead to any potential material
adverse effect on the Group.

During the year under review, the remuneration in respect of annual

audit and non-audit services provided by the auditors, amounted to
HK$948,000 and HK$Nil.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group and ensure that the financial
statements are in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the timely
publication of the financial statements of the Group.

The statements of the external auditors of the Group, Elite Partners
CPA Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements of the Group are set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the maintenance of a sound and effective
internal control system of the Group and has established the Group’s
internal control policies and procedures for monitoring the internal
control system. The internal control system of the Group is designed
to achieve business objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorized
use or disposition, ensure maintenance of proper books and records
for the provision of reliable financial information for internal use or
publication, and ensure compliance with relevant legislations and
regulations. The management and various departments conduct
periodic self-assessment of the effectiveness of the internal control
policies and procedures. Besides, the Board reviews at least annually
the overall effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system.

The Board is of the view that the Group’s internal control system is
effective, with room for improvement, to achieve the Group’s internal
control objectives and will continue to assess the effectiveness of
internal controls by considering reviews performed by the Audit
Committee, executive management and auditors.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Company have set up an internal audit department for one of
this subsidiary, Brilink Bank Corporation Limited (“Brillink Bank”). The
Board has reviewed, on an annual basis, the need for an internal audit
function for the Group and is of the view that in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the business of the Group, as opposed to diverting
resources to establish a separate internal audit department, it would
be more cost effective to appoint external independent professionals
to perform independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RELATIONS

The Group is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency
and employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of relevant
information to its Shareholders.

The Board strives to encourage and maintain constant dialogue
with its Shareholders through various means. The Directors host the
annual general meeting each to meet the Shareholders and answer
their enquiries. The Company also updates its Shareholders on its
latest business developments and financial performance through its
annual, interim and quarterly reports. The website of the Company has
provided an effective communication platform to the public and the
Shareholders.

SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, an annual general meeting
of the Company was held on 10 September 2021. The individual
attendance record of each Director is as follows:

B2 R EA &

AEBEHNERSKFZERARERERBRE
BRAFEMERBERBENZBE -

EZe8NEBZRIATBREREER
RIEBER EZEFHEARBRREAEFA
g ERREEIAEREZER AR
AIMERFERS  THRELFTERSEM
HERMNEEHESMEFERMMBRR
ZIBMR e ARBZ WU TR ERNR KRR E
TRBZEMFESR -

BREXKSE
BHE_ZE-_—_F=A=1+—RHILFE  xAQ7F

RZZ_—FNAATHETRREFAS - %
EERAaLFERzREm

Directors Attendance
- R R
Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Chairman) 11
REESXE(EE)

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee (Chief Executive Officer) 11
BERELT(BEHTE)

Ms. Zhang Chunping 11
RENFL T

Independent non-executive Directors

BIAKPTES

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy 11
PR R 2+

Mr. Kwan Chi Hong (resigned on 12 November 2021) 11
MEFEEE (W —FE-——FE+—H+—HE(T)

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean 11
FHAPLL

Mr. Zhang Weidong (appointed on 12 November 2021) 0/0

R E (W E-—Ef —F+—HREE(E)

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code requires all independent
non-executive directors and non-executive directors should attend
general meetings of listed issuers.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has disclosed all necessary information to the
Shareholders and established a range of communication channels
between itself, its Shareholders and investors in compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules. During the year under review, article 111, 112 and
134 of the Articles of Association have been amended. The updated
Articles of Association is available on the Stock Exchange’s and the
Company’s website.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands
Companies Law (2012 Revision). However, Shareholders are requested
to follow article 64 of the Articles of Association, general meetings
shall be convened on the written requisition of any one or more
members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary,
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within twenty-one day of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expense incurred by the requisition(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
PROPOSE A PERSON FOR ELECTION AS A
DIRECTOR

The provisions for a Shareholder to propose a person for election as
a Director are laid down in article 113 of the Articles of Association.
No person other than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election to the
office of Director at any general meeting unless a notice in writing of
the intention to propose such person for election as a Director, signed
by a Shareholder (other than the person to be proposed for election as
a Director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which
such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such person of
his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office
or at the Registration Office. The minimum length of the period during
which such notices are given shall be at least seven clear days and the
period for lodgement of such notices shall commence no earlier than
the day immediately after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such intention and end no later than seven days
before the date of such general meeting.

PROCEDURES FOR SENDING ENQUIRIES TO THE
BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company, for the
attention of the Company Secretary, by fax: (852) 2838 2922, e-mail at
ir@cbg.com.hk or mail to Flat B, 9/F., 9 Des Voeux Road West, Sheung
Wan, Hong Kong.

INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company discloses information in compliance with the GEM
Listing Rules, and publishes periodic reports and announcements to
the public in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations. The
primary focus of the Company is to ensure information disclosure
is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and complete thereby enabling
Shareholders as well as the public to make rational and informed
decisions.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

China Brilliant Global Limited (the “Company” or “we”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are pleased to present the sixth
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report. The report
covers the Group’s ESG policies, measures, and performance.

The report has been approved by the Board of the Group before its
release.

REPORT SCOPE

The report discloses the Group’s ESG policies, measures, and
performance for the period from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 (the
“Year” or “Reporting Period”). The report scope covers operations of
the Group in Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and
Republic of Kazakhstan (“Kazakhstan”).

REPORT STANDARD

The report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide
(the “Guide ") in Appendix 27 to the GEM Listing Rules of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on the basis of the four reporting
principles set out in the Guide, namely materiality, quantification,
balance and consistency. To fully present to the stakeholders with
the Group’s efforts and achievements in ESG for the Year, the report
discloses most of the social key performance indicators that belong to
the “recommended disclosures” category in the Guide in addition to
those in the “comply or explain” provisions of the Guide.

FEEDBACK

Stakeholders’ valuable opinions regarding the Group’s policies
and approaches in terms of sustainable development are the vital
driving force for the Group’s continuous improvement. The Group
welcomes the suggestions on the ESG report and related work from
the stakeholders. If you have any suggestions, please contact us via
ir@cbg.com.hk.
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STRATEGY OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Our Management Policy

The Board takes full charge of overseeing the environmental, social
and governance issues of the Group, including policies, measures,
performance and risks. The Board holds regular Board meetings to
assess and review environmental, social and governance issues in a
timely manner.

Communication with Stakeholders

Stakeholders’ expectations and opinions are critical to the Group
in improving policies and measures for sustainable development.
We communicate with stakeholders from all circles on a regular
basis, constantly collect their suggestions and feedback, and
fully comprehend their opinions on the Group’s performance and
expectations of and demands for the Group by establishing different
channels such as general meetings, annual reports, announcements,
and company website. The table below sets out the communication
channels for different stakeholder groups in detail.

Major Stakeholder Category =~ Main Communication Channel

A5 4R B R BBR

BN EES &
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ok 4
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FONENMERBERAYARETEARHER
RERNERERER - HMNEZTRES
&ﬁﬂx%ﬁA FEHE  2F - RAMELE

CEMRERFNDEIR - BEREMM
E’\J%ﬁ&@ﬁ? RATHRMPIEAEERE
MER DA&@1FEJ¥¢$%IE’JHH*%H%%‘E °
HETRFHEANNFABREBERT
RETR °

EBRRMOEERN ERBE

Customer o On-site interview
o Company website
° Press release

Business partner ° Business meeting
° Company website
° Email and telephone

Supplier ° Supplier meeting
° Bidding
° Direct communication

Employee ° Employee meeting
° Employee activity
o Email and telephone

Investor and shareholder ° General meeting
° Annual/Interim report
° Investor meeting

° Announcement and circular
o Press release

o Company website

° Investor relations email
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Major Stakeholder Category ~ Main Communication Channel FERKBEERN EEEB
Regulatory authority e Annual/Interim report EEWRE s FHRPHEE
e Announcement and circular . YNNG
*  Press release e  HHET
o Email and telephone . BIHNEE
Community group e Community activity oy e HEEF

° Charitable donation
° Response to public inquiry

Feedback from stakeholders is an important basis on which we
identify key ESG issues. The materiality assessment is conducted
through discussion and analysis between senior management and
business staff, with reference to common ESG issues of peers and
by considering the ESG issues that stakeholders are concerned
about and the importance of the ESG issues to the Group. Through
identifying ESG issues that are most relevant and of the highest
materiality to the Group, we determine the focus of ESG reporting
and the direction of future development and improvement. During the
Reporting Period, the Group has discerned a total of seven ESG issues
that are of greater materiality to the Group and its stakeholders.

s HEEBW
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Material ESG Issues Identified ERBNEEZESGEE
—  Employment compliance — EFER

—  Employment benefit — EFEN

—  Occupational health and safety - BEREREkZR
—  Employee development and training — EEZREREI
—  Anti-corruption - RESAS

—  Compliance operation — ARKgE

—  Product responsibility — EmEf
ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES RIREE

Climate Change RIR&E L

Climate change may lead to a higher incidence of extreme weather
events, which may affect the safety and health of our employees and
our daily operations. The Group is aware of the urgency of climate
change and thus considers and develops policies on climate risks to
address the challenges associated with climate change. Climate risks
are mainly divided into physical risks and transformation-related risks.
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Physical risks

Physical climate risks come in the form of more frequent and intense
extreme weather conditions and sea level rise. Extreme weathers
may affect our supply chain and also have a significant impact on our
operations, the livelihood and safety of our owners and employees.
The Group will actively respond to the call of the country and attach
great importance to the impact of our business activities on climate
and environment.

Transitional risks

Transitional climate risks are the evolution of regulatory, technological,
and market landscapes due to climate change. The Group will follow
China’s carbon neutrality guidelines and regulations, continuously
review relevant policy updates and assess their potential impact on
our operations, and adapt the Group’s structure to meet the latest
policy requirements. As more and more consumers demand for green
and low-carbon products, the Group gives priority to ESG-compliant
suppliers, with the opportunity to drive up product costs to adapt to
the evolving market landscape.

Caring for the Environment

As a responsible enterprise, the Group is committed to complying
with relevant local laws and regulations during its operations, including
the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Carbon Audit as well as the Waste Disposal
Ordinance and the Air Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong. We
implement the green office policy in offices and operating locations.
Through using resources efficiently and adopting environmentally
beneficial technologies, we minimize the Group’s potential impact
as much as possible. We wish to raise employees’ awareness of
environmental protection by implementing the green office policy and
encourage them to practice the concept of sustainable development in
daily lives.

As the Group’s business does not involve industrial production
activities in nature, there is no significant impact on the environment
and natural resources arising from its business operations. During the
Reporting Period, the Group has not violated any environmental laws
or regulations, nor has any complaints, penalties, or sanctions been
imposed upon the Group for the violation of any environmental laws or
regulations.
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Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction

The Group’s energy consumption and carbon emission mainly come
from the use of purchased electricity in offices of various businesses
and operating locations. The Group actively advocates for the green
office policy and constantly reminds employees to save electricity. We
encourage employees to reduce the use of air conditioners and set
the temperature of air conditioners to an appropriate level, so as to
reduce energy consumption. To further reduce unnecessary energy
consumption, we also require all employees to abide by the energy
conservation provisions set forth in the Staff Handbook, including
turning off the light, computers, air conditioners, and other electrical
appliances when they are not in use and during non-office hours.
Preference shall be given to energy-efficient models in replacing
electrical appliances. The Group does not own any vehicles, and has
also set out the requirement on using public transportation whenever
possible during business trips in the Staff Handbook, so as to further
reduce carbon emissions in business operations.

Looking ahead, we have developed strategies to reduce emissions
and energy consumption to satisfy the following directional goals:

— Maintaining (or reducing) the level of energy consumption
compared to last year

— Issuing energy conservation and emission reduction notices
and putting up posters to strengthen awareness of energy
conservation and emission reduction

Wise use of Resources

In terms of resource use, the Group’s green office policy also
encourages employees to save water and paper and cherish the
precious resources of the earth. We commits itself to improving the
efficiency in the use of resources in its operations, and advocating
the awareness of paperless office by encouraging employees to
minimize the printing of documents and communicate via email, so as
to reduce unnecessary paper use. In addition, the Group highlights
the importance of saving paper in the Staff Handbook, requiring
employees to use double-sided printing and reuse paper as much as
possible.
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The Group’s directional objective is to reduce waste generation by
minimizing the use of office and daily necessities:

—  Maintaining (or reducing) the intensity of non-hazardous waste
generation compared to last year;

—  Recycling paper, metal and plastic waste

Due to the use of municipal water, the Group has not encountered
issues in sourcing water. Nevertheless, the Group works hard
to reduce water use in business operations while enhancing the
efficiency in the use of water resources. We post notices in pantries
and washrooms to remind employees of economizing on water. In
the event of any leakage or failure in the taps or pipes in pantries or
washrooms, the Group will also arrange for professionals to repair as
soon as possible to ensure environmental sanitation and avoid wasting
water resources.

The Group’s directional objective is to reduce waste generation by
minimizing the use of office and daily necessities:

—  Maintaining (or reducing) the intensity of non-hazardous waste
generation compared to last year

CARING FOR EMPLOYEES

Employees are crucial to promoting the continuous development of
the Group. The Group attracts and retains talents by upholding the
“people-oriented” principle. The Group devotes itself to understanding
and satisfying the demands of employees, enhancing the cohesion of
the employee team by increasing benefits and providing training, and
creating a healthy, safe, and harmonious working environment.

Talent Attraction and Retention

The Group conducts fair, just, and open external and internal
recruitment according to the procedures specified in the Staff
Handbook, to provide equal access for every job seeker. The Group
strictly complies with the relevant laws and regulations regarding
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal access, diversity, anti-discrimination and
other benefits set out in the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China and the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
as well as the Employment Ordinance, Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance, and Minimum Wage Ordinance of Hong Kong. In addition,
the Group reviews and updates its employment practices and internal
guidelines on a regular basis to comply with the latest regulatory
requirements.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2021/22

AEENHTAEERRBBEERD W AR
an A B G B0 (6 A AROR D RE W EE A

— BB EREE) RETALHBERED
EETE

— [EYHsK - EBMERBEY

RS BT AR KR AT UK - BURTE SR
BUERKRD HB R EFARE - BEL
AEBEDBHERBEEFRMDAA AR
=IKEREERME - RIAERKE AT
BRAE R IREETEHAMRK B - @
BWIOKEIOAF R KERXREBLIRZ
MABENER  ARETEERLHEEA
M —TEHBRREFLE B HETE#
RKRERHRE o

AEENHAEEERBBEERD B AR
an A B G 0 (6 R RO D RE W EE A

— BB ERE)RETALHEERED
EATE

MEET

ETREPAKREFERRNVER - AKHE
BRAAABRIORTARBEAT
BB ATHEMBETETHFR W5 B
MEIRF BEEIHIE  KeE8TH
BORED  RtfEE—EEE 22
A H) TARIRIR o

AT RARIKRE

AEBEBRBCEIFM AMBORE  #E1T
DF - RERRFANIIBRARBEE - BE
fRBERMTFERE -  AEEERET(P
FEARKMBELEHE) (PEARANES
BERE) BAEN(RREEL) (BEME
B RCRAETEGRD) FRBERERTH
FAET N e MEBRET  TERE - R
- FPEHKE - 2l REGAREME
BREBAMOBRMAE  XLEHRTREHA
SENEFEEMEAIIES - ABERTE K
HHERER



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIg - HERERHS

The Group strictly prohibits the recruitment of child labor or forced
labor. In strict accordance with the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Protection of Minors, the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Protection of Rights and Interests of Women, and the
Implementing Regulations of the Employment Contract Law of the
PRC as well as the Employment of Children Regulations of Hong Kong,
the Group will examine the identification documents of job seekers
during recruitment to ensure that they qualify for the corresponding
posts. To further protect the rights and interests of employees, the
Group signs contracts with all employees, which stipulate wages,
benefits, working hours, holidays, employee responsibilities, dismissal
and so on, to ensure that the Group and employees have the same
understanding of operating posts and conditions.

In terms of the remuneration policy, the management of the Group
reviews relevant internal policies and the salary mix on a regular
basis, and makes reasonable adjustments according to the market
environment, updates on laws and regulations, performances of
the Group and other factors to provide employees with competitive
remunerations. We also provide discretionary bonuses to qualified
employees according to the Group’s performance and employees’
individual performance. Meanwhile, we give various rewards to
employees with outstanding performance to boost their morale, and
encourage them to continue their hard work of maintaining continuous
development of the Group.

In addition to reasonable remuneration, we also attach importance
to employee welfare policies. We purchase medical insurance for
employees to safeguard their health with outpatient and hospital
insurance. The employees are entitled to sick leave and maternity
leave in addition to statutory holidays and paid annual leave, to have
their needs met. In addition, we also organize birthday parties, festive
dinners, and other activities from time to time, allowing employees
to relax in their spare time and communicate with other colleagues,
thereby enhancing the cohesion of employees.

During the Reporting Period, no prosecution or compliant has been
imposed upon the Group for the violation of any employment laws or
regulations.
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Employee Distribution Overview BETISHEE

During the Reporting Period, the Group has employed a total of 25 REBEHAR  NREBRE B R B A HEFE
employees in Hong Kong and mainland China. 258 8T -

Employee Distribution
As of 31 March 2022
EI5h
BE-_ET_-__F=H=+-—H

Employees by gender Employees by age group
=it R 82 RERE D

mMale ®Female ®m Aged 30 or below  ®Aged 31-40
S ik 0% AT 31-408%
= Aged 41-50 Aged 51 or above
41-505% 51pREA
Employees by employment category Employees by geographical region
ZERERZ 2 BEMES S

/‘

J

® Part-time " Full-time ® Hong Kong  ® Mainland China
vi\y PaNyivily
i = &b hEP
" Kazakhstan
IafE 7 TR
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Employee Training and Development

The Group is clearly aware that the growth of its employees is critical
to the sustainable development of its business. In this regard, the
Group continues to deploy resources and provide diversified training
for employees. By providing various on-the-job training, the Group
expects to enhance the professional competence of employees and
promote its long-term development.

As for the jewellery retailing business, the Group and the brand
owners of the business arrange employees to participate in relevant
training courses from time to time, to strengthen the study of the
specialized knowledge in jewellery, including diamond characteristics,
classification skills, and identification. Employees will receive relevant
certificates upon training completion to enhance recognition of their
professional qualifications. With the aim of improving the professional
competence and customer service quality of employees, the Group
also arranges for employees to participate in pre-job training organized
by the jewellery retail brand owner on corporate culture, appearance
specification, customer service, sales techniques, jewellery product
maintenance and relevant jewellery product knowledge, so as to foster
employees’ awareness of “customer first” and provide quality services
to customers with a professional attitude. Chief senior management
participated in training on post-epidemic business model changes and
transformation.

In addition, all new employees are required to attend the induction
training, so as to improve their understanding of the internal structure
of the Group and the requirements and responsibilities of their
positions, as well as the Group’s values and goals, and adapt to the
Group’s working environment and culture as soon as possible.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has provided training for a total
of 14 employees.

Occupational Health and Safety

The Group endeavors to create a safe, healthy, and comfortable
working environment for employees. Although the Group’s business
does not involve high-risk work, it strictly complies with relevant laws
and regulations including the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Work Safety and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases as well as the
Occupational Safety Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, to implement the
most comprehensive protection for employees.
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Our Staff Handbook clearly sets out the safety management
regulations in the office, requiring all departments to pay attention to
the safety and hygiene of the working environment and facilities at all
times. Meanwhile, we clean and disinfect offices and sales stores to
prevent bacteria breeding, and make medicines and first-aid supplies
available in offices to prevent the spread of disease.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has had no cases of work-
related fatalities or records of lost working days due to work-
related injuries in the past three years (including the reporting Year).
In addition, the Group has not violated any laws and regulations
regarding occupational safety and health.

Prevention of COVID-19

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has adopted a

series of measures to ensure the health and safety of its employees

and customers during the Reporting Period. The measures we have

taken include but are not limited to:

About the health, safety and welfare of employees:

—  Working from home and in shifts;

—  Providing protection and disinfection products such as masks,
alcohol-based hand sanitizers, bleach, detergents and gloves in

the workplace;

— Reducing face-to-face contact and handling work electronically
as much as possible;

— Taking cleaning and disinfection measures more frequently,
and thoroughly maintaining the air circulation system in the
workplace.

About the health and safety of customers/clients:

—  Providing protection and disinfection products such as alcohol-
based hand sanitizers in stores;

—  Measuring the temperature of customers when they enter the
stores and requesting the use of face masks;

— Adopting cleaning and disinfection measures more frequently in
the stores and thoroughly maintaining the ventilation system;

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2021/22
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—  Suspending public events and activities and any site visits.

About business operation and risk management:

— Integrating the pandemic risks into the enterprise risk
management mechanism;

— Including the COVID-19 reporting and management guidelines in
the business continuity plan;

— Accepting new communication technologies and/or
utilizing existing digital infrastructure to facilitate seamless
communication, to achieve business continuity;

— Updating inventory policies and planning parameters, such as
increasing inventories.

RESPONSIBLE OPERATION

The Group is committed to carrying out business in a responsible and
honest manner and improving the Group’s operating practices. The
Group puts a premium on the relations with customers, suppliers, and
stakeholders, and actively understands and responds to their appeals,
to advance the sustainable development of its business.

Supply Chain Management

Suppliers are indispensable to the Group’s jewellery retailing business.
The Group endeavors to guarantee the quality of our products
and services through comprehensive and effective supply chain
management.
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The Group establishes a mechanism for managing the supply chain
to select suitable suppliers based on strict indicators, including
suppliers’ quality, capabilities, and services. When contacting new
suppliers, relevant departments of the Group will conduct qualification
assessments on the suppliers based on the above indicators, to
ensure that the quality of products and services provided by such
suppliers conforms to the standards of the Group. At the same time,
the Group has also incorporated factors such as whether the suppliers
are involved in complaints, punishment, or legal disputes into the
selection criteria of the suppliers, to ensure the stability of the supply
chain. The Group is dedicated to reducing the potential environmental
and social impacts within the supply chain. When selecting suppliers,
the Group will consider the suppliers’ environmental protection
policies, work safety, and other factors, giving priority to those with
outstanding environmental and social performance. To manage
suppliers more systematically and efficiently, the Group establishes
supplier profile for the suppliers in long-term partnership with the
Group.

The Group also focuses on maintaining close contact with suppliers.
In daily operations, the Group holds meetings with suppliers on a
regular basis to understand their operating conditions and exchanges
information on industry trends and market information. The Group also
maintains close contact with suppliers through telephone and e-mail,
to consolidate the cooperative relationship between the two sides on
the one hand, and ensure the mutual information exchange between
the two sides and inform all possible delays and conflicts in time on the
other hand. The effort aims to reduce the potential effect on the quality
of the Group’s products and services arising from the instability of the
supply chain.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has engaged closely with 20
suppliers in different regions, including 4 in Hong Kong, 14 in China
and 2 in other regions.

PRODUCT AND SERVICE RESPONSIBILITY

The Group believes that high-quality products and services are the key
factor in sustainable business development. The Group concentrates
efforts on providing high-quality jewellery to customers in strict
accordance with the Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of
China and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection
of Consumer Rights and Interests.
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For the jewellery retailing business, the Group’s diamond, jadeite, and
other jewellery products are sourced from the brand owner’s approved
suppliers, whereas gold is sourced in strict accordance with the
standards of the Shanghai Gold Exchange. When purchasing jewellery
products, the Group also requires suppliers to provide certificates on
product source to guarantee the quality of the products.

In addition to product quality, the Group also attaches great
importance to the high-quality shopping experience for customers.
The Group conducts customer satisfaction surveys in retail stores
from time to time, working to improve current services and provide
customer-based services. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
not received any product-related complaints.

The Group respects customers’ personal privacy and intellectual
property rights. As required by the Group, employees should refrain
from recording unnecessary personal data of customers during
business operations. The Group also stipulates relevant provisions
on confining company and personal data in its Staff Handbook and
Confidentiality System, including provisions on prohibiting employees
from copying confidential documents without permission, and properly
keeping confidential or private documents or information. The Group
strictly observes the relevant laws and regulations including the
Advertisement Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Trademark
Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance of Hong Kong, and strives to protect personal privacy and
intellectual property rights.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not violated any laws and
regulations concerning the health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services.

Anti-corruption

The Group always adheres to the highest level of business ethics and
professional ethics in its business operations, and strictly complies
with laws and regulations including the Criminal Law of the People’s
Republic of China as well as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and
the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance
of Hong Kong, taking a zero-tolerance attitude toward corruption.
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The Group requires that all employees abide by the law and
regulations at all times, and arranges for employees of different ranks
from relevant departments to double check its financial information.
To eliminate bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering, the
Group has put in place the Anti-fraud and Anti-theft Policy and the
Whistleblowing Policy and encourages employees to report any
suspected misconduct to relevant senior management. After receiving
the report, the Group will carry out a comprehensive investigation with
a serious attitude and take appropriate actions when necessary. The
Group will handle all cases in confidentiality to protect the whistle-
blowers. The Group plans to hold anti-corruption seminars in the
future, including participation by directors and their staff, to broaden
their anti-corruption knowledge.

During the Reporting Period, the Group and its employees have not
involved in any legal proceedings related to bribery, extortion, fraud,
and money laundering.

GIVING BACK TO SOCIETY
COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is fully aware of the importance of giving back to society
in the course of business development. Therefore, the Group has
advocated for serving the community to establish a harmonious
relationship with the community where it operates and deliver warmth
and positivity to society. The Group devotes itself to fostering a
friendly and positive corporate culture in its operations, encourages
employees to actively participate in volunteer activities, and proceeds
with determination to care for society. Going forward, the Group
will continue to seek opportunities for cooperation with the local
communities where it operates, and actively promote the sustainable
development of society by taking part in activities and making direct
donations.
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OVERVIEW OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Ei# & X5 HF4
ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE LIST! RIBEXI T
Total Total
Amount in Amount in Increase/
Index Unit 2021 20222 Decrease
—E-—F Z—ZE-—f
g B me mE: A BKEE
Greenhouse gas emission
mERE BN
Scope 1 — Direct emission? Tonne N/A N/A N/A
#}ET — BEEHHC NI AN iE A3 A5 A
Scope 2 — Indirect emission (purchased electricity)* Tonne 47.45 16.06 -66%
HE2 — FEYRONESE )¢ NI
Scope 3 — Other indirect emissions (paper)? Tonne 0177 0.38 115%
EE3 — HbREHM (AR N
Total emissions Tonne 47.63 16.44 -65%
wmEEmE NI
Total emission intensity Tonne/Employee 1.91 0.66 -65%
BEEREE N
Resource Use
&iRER
Electricity consumption kWh 57,916 24,535 -58%
= TR &
Electricity consumption intensity kWh/Employee 2,316.64 981.40 -58%
BEXHE TRE /BT
Water consumption® m3 N/A 21.58 N/A
Rk Ee SR A3 A A~ i
Water consumption intensity m3/Employee N/A 0.86 N/A
FKE% NHEKSET T iE A T iE A
Paper consumption Kg 367.8 287.5 -22%
REE T
Paper consumption intensity Kg/Employee 14.71 115 -22%
RAEERE Fr/BTL
Packing material consumption Kg 24 24 0%
BEYEHAE T
Packing material consumption intensity Kg/Employee 0.96 0.96 0%
BEDERTE FR/BT
Non-hazardous waste
BEBEZEY
Dumping General waste Kg 240 240 0%
HEiR — M By 3R Fr
Scrap paper Kg 36.8 28.8 -22%
JE AR T
Recycling Scrap paper Kg 331 258.8 -22%
B [ 4% T
Total non-hazardous waste generated Kg 607.8 527.6 -13%
BEEEEVELS Fr
Generation intensity of non-hazardous waste Kg/Employee 24.31 21.10 -13%
BEEREVELTR Fx/BT
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As the Group’s business does not involve industrial production activities and
the Group does not own vehicles and other fuel combustion equipment,
no air pollutant emission was resulted during the Reporting Period. The
hazardous wastes generated by the Group mainly come from daily office
supplies such as ink cartridges and light tubes in the office. Due to the
insignificant amount, no statistics are made; hazardous waste in the office
are disposed of by qualified professional institutions in accordance with the
laws and regulations of the places where the Group operates its business.

The Group re-calculates the GHG data and resource consumption intensity
in 2021 based on the 25 employees as at 31 March 2022, with the revised
data shown with the bottom line.

As the Group does not own vehicles and other fuel combustion equipment,
there is no direct GHG emission during the Reporting Period.

Scope 2 — Indirect emissions (purchased electricity) are the GHG emissions
from the purchased electricity consumed by the Group in the suppliers’
production process. The specific emission data is calculated with reference
to the emission factors of the power grid in the 2021 Sustainability Report of
Hong Kong Electric and the average emission factors of the national power
grid in 2018 in Appendix 2 of the Stock Exchange: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPlIs.

Scope 3 — Other indirect emissions (paper) are GHG emissions from paper
waste disposed of at landfills. The specific emission data is also calculated
with reference to the relevant emission factors stated in the Guidelines to
Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for
Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong.

Due to the change of the Group’s business scope in 2021, there is no data
on water consumption; as the water of the Group’s offices is supplied by the
property management department of its buildings, no such data is collected
during the Year.
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE HtERR
Unit 2022
B —®=-=
Number of employees
EEAR
Total number of employees Number 25
BREREAR A
Employees by gender Male Number 13
BRUERIEISHET e A B
Female Number 12
Z ANEL
Employees by employment category Full-time Number 24
REBEMNESWET s A
Part-time Number 1
b A
Employees by employee category Chief executive Number 15
REBERESHET BREE AEL
Manager Number 6
EBAB A
Ordinary employee Number 4
—RET A B
Employees by age group Aged 30 or below Number 5
RERANESWET 305R KA T N
Aged 31-40 Number 5
31-405% A
Aged 41-50 Number 8
41-505% AL
Aged 51 or above Number 7
515x sk A A
Employees by geographical region Hong Kong Number 14
BiEEHHET BB A B
Mainland China Number 8
LA A B
Kazakhstan Number 3
h& 7& 52 Hr iR AEL
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Unit 2022
B —E==
Employee turnover rate
EERELLLE
Total number of dimission Percentage 76.4%
g 23N BOL
By gender Male Percentage 84.6%
IR E D 3 BOL
Female Percentage 69.0%
z ANt
By age group Aged 30 or below Percentage 100.0%
REWRAR 30K AT B
Aged 31-40 Percentage 90.9%
31-408% Bkt
Aged 41-50 Percentage 70.6%
41-507%, ANt
Aged 51 or above Percentage 46.2%
S1ER 3 A & Bkt
Employees by geographical region Hong Kong Percentage 77.4%
BmRE S MET BB Bkt
Mainland China Percentage 76.2%
HR LA Ekiysd
Kazakhstan Percentage 66.7%
e BE 7 HTiA Bkt

Percentage of employees trained (as a percentage of total employees)

EZBBINETESHL(EETHRHN TS L)

Total number of employees trained Percentage 56%
BREXBABINEIAR AL
By gender Male Percentage 36%
=R 85 3 ANk
Female Percentage 64%
zZ Bkt
By employee category Chief executive Percentage 50%
REBEME D BESE At
Manager Percentage 29%
BEEANE ERise
Ordinary employee Percentage 21%
—mBEL Btk
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Unit 2022
B —E==
Employees trained
EZEINIETH
Overall average hours of employees trained Hour 3.6
BEREXBABINEITFARHR N
By gender Male Hour 44
1214 58 5 £ N
Female Hour 3.3
z s
By employee category Chief executive Hour 2.5
REBEMNE D BREE N
Manager Hour 3.75
EBAB N
Ordinary employee Hour 6
—ET /)N By
Occupational safety
BEZ2
Number and rate of work-related fatalities' Individual case 0
PRl T E B8 1% i 58 T 55 B0 A A BN B 3 ([EES
Work-related injuries Individual case 0
ITHEEK [FES
Workdays lost due to work-related fatalities Individual case 0
RIGmBLHIIER [FES
Supplier number
HEBHE
Hong Kong Number 4
& HE
Mainland China Number 14
[ A 3 HE
Other Number 2
H At HE
Product liability
EmEE
Number of complaints Individual case 0
BRFEE (EES
Number of product recalls Individual case 0
E mn BBOR 81 {[HES

1. Fatalities include the number and rate of work-related fatalities in each of the 1. NTERREBEEA=FBRERTFE)EF
past three years (including the reporting Year). TUBHAB KRR -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 37 ¥ BT #R 5

elite
partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA BRILLIANT GLOBAL LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Brilliant Global Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 89 to 228, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA?)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESETHFERRNAEEFARERE R

Impairment assessment on loan receivables and trade receivables

FE W B R % MK R KR (B T A

Refer to notes 22 and 23 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had loan receivables
and trade receivables with gross carrying amounts of
approximately HK$44,129,000 and HK$5,686,000,
respectively and provision for allowance for expected
credit losses on loan receivables and trade receivables of
approximately HK$2,124,000 and HK$293,000 respectively
were recognised to the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Management applied judgment in assessing the expected
credit losses. Expected credit losses are estimated by
grouping the receivables based on shared credit risk
characteristics and collectively/individually assessed
for likelihood of recovery, taking into account its aging
category, and applying expected credit loss rates to the
respective gross carrying amounts of loan receivables and
trade receivables.
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Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
impairment assessment of loan receivables and trade
receivables included:

° obtaining an understanding of the Group’s procedures
on credit period given to counterparty by the
management;

° loan receivables and trade receivables checking, on a
sample basis, the aging profile of the receivables as at
31 March 2022 to the underlying financial records and
post year-end settlements to bank receipts;

° inquiring of management for the status of each of
the material balances of trade receivables which
were past due at the end of the reporting period and
corroborating explanations from management with
supporting evidence, such as understanding ongoing
business relationship with the customers based on
trade records, checking historical and subsequent
settlement records of and other correspondence with
the customers;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

RREZSER

FEFLSHEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EFETHEFRRNAEERAREASE

Impairment assessment on loan receivables and trade receivables (Continued)

FE U & 7K % MK BR RO ME AT A (4R

We had identified impairment assessment on loan
receivables and trade receivables as a key audit matter
because of significant judgments had to be made for the
assessment of impairments under the expected credit loss
model.

F B KB WE N B WOR KRR E R SRR S R s =
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Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
impairment assessment of loan receivables and trade
receivables included: (continued)

° for the analyses of historical information of the
counterparty, discussing with management to
understand the management’s identification of
significant increase in credit risk, defaults and credit-
impaired receivables, corroborated management’s
explanation with supporting evidence;

o for forward-looking information about the loan
receivables and trade receivables, assessing the
reasonableness of economic indicator selection,
economic scenarios and weightings application,
assessed the reasonableness of the estimation by
comparing with industry data; and

o assessing the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology, examining the
key data inputs, on a sample basis, to assess their
accuracy and completeness, and challenging the
assumptions, including both historical and forward-
looking information, used to determine the expected
credit losses.

We considered the management conclusion to be
consistent with the available information.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

AREZER

FEFLSHEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EFETHFRRNAEEFARELSE

Valuation of promissory note

AERZMHE
Refer to note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group holds a promissory note
with carrying amount of approximately HK$75,947,000. As
a result of a decrease in the fair value of the promissory
note, approximately HK$7,476,000 was recognised
to consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Management recognised the promissory note at fair value
by reference to the valuation of similar instruments and
other market based information. The inputs to the valuation
techniques used to measured fair value are classified
into level 3 fair value hierarchy in HKFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement.
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Our audit procedures in relation to valuation of promissory
note included:

o evaluating the fair value at initial recognition and at
the end of the reporting period against the valuation

of similar instruments and other market based
information;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

AREZER

FARFZSIHEW®E

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EFETHFRRNAEEFARELSE

Valuation of promissory note (Continued)

AR\ 2 A EGR)

The fair values of promissory note was valued by
independent qualified professional valuers.

We had identified the valuation of the promissory note as
a key audit matter because valuation of promissory note is

complex and require application of significant judgment by
the management.
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Our audit procedures in relation to valuation of promissory
note included: (continued)

° enquiring the management and assessing the
methodology used in fair value measurement and
the appropriateness of the key assumptions and
parameters based on our knowledge;

o checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used by comparing key
underlying financial data inputs to external sources
and management information applicable;

° evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent qualified professional
valuers; and

o checking the arithmetical accuracy on the valuation
model.

We considered management’s fair value measurement on
promissory note was supportable by available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2021/22
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Ho Kwan with Practising Certificate number
PO7543.

Elite Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

10/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FERmREMEERRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

2022 2021
=== T —F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B & TExT T
Continuing operations REREER
Revenue Y == 6 77,806 59,038
Cost of sales SHE R AR (72,786) (54,080)
Gross profit EF 5,020 4,958
Other gains and losses, net Hfh e & 1R F R 7 (7,526) (6,418)
Selling expenses HERX (517) (1,347)
Administrative expenses TEHAX (41,536) (35,108)
Finance costs % ER 8 (78) (244)
Share of results of an associate FEAG B & RRIEE 20 - 5
Impairment loss recognised in respect of Bt H — [ B & A &) 1 &= 18 38
interest in an associate BE & 1B 20 - (487)
Impairment losses recognised under BIETHEE EEBEREXER
expected credit loss model, net of WA EE - MBRED
reversal 46(a) (1,517) 364
Loss before tax B i B0 &5 1R 9 (46,154) (38,277)
Income tax expense FrisfiA X 10 = =
Loss for the year from continuing REBEREERZFERNER
operations (46,154) (38,277)
Discontinued operation BRI EEETE
Loss for the period from discontinued REERIEEEER 2
operation B FAREE 14 - (867)
Loss for the year FABE (46,154) (39,144)
Other comprehensive income: Hit ZE U 2s:
Items that are or may be reclassified B BEEAGEER D EE
subsequently to profit or loss: BmoHEHE
Exchange differences on translation of ~— A EGINEFKEL ~
foreign operations P& o = &8 126 809
Reclassification adjustments of FANERINER R RETE R
cumulative translation reserve upon BBz EN D ERAE
disposal of foreign operations during
the year = 116
Other comprehensive income for the year 4 A H fih & T U 25 126 925
Total comprehensive loss FRE2HEBEEE
for the year (46,028) (38,219)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FERmREMEERRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

2022 2021
—g-=F T
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B & TExT T T
(Loss)/profit for the year EiLER (E5E)
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company S VNGIE PN (37,322) (41,052)
- Non-controlling interests - JEVE R (8,832) 1,908
(46,154) (89,144)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income EEFEARAZHE(EE) A
for the year attributable to: FOR -
— Owners of the Company - ARRQFHEAA (37,185) (40,125)
— Non-controlling interests - RS (8,843) 1,906
(46,028) (88,219)
Loss per share BREBE 15
From continuing and discontinued KEBERCRIEEEER
operations
Basic and diluted (HK cents) A AR #EOB) (2.56) (2.82)
From continuing operations RERFEREER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) E AR K #5E (L) (2.56) (2.76)
From discontinued operation RKEERIEBEER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) E AR KR #EE (BL) - (0.06)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated BE BT 2 [ 3 Bz 4R & B 75 3R 3% < 48 X 3P
financial statements. 7 @

N
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEMBRR R

As at 31 March 2022 R-ZE - —“F=ZH=+—H

2022 2021
—E=-= %
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 T#&T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- WEKEE 16 1,385 2,189
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 170 2,085
Intangible assets mREE 18 14,375 =
Interest in an associate REE RN A 2 RS 20 - -
Prepayment TE 3R I8 24 = 4,670
Total non-current assets B EEEEE 15,930 8,944
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories e 21 634 3,930
Trade receivables JE U HR 3R 22 5,393 323
Loan receivables JE W B =X 23 42,005 24,367
Prepayment, deposits and other BRRIE - FTek
receivables H M fE W 5k IR 24 6,495 9,625
Amount due from an associate JE W — R Bt 22 A B 2 FIE 25 6,170 6,624
Prepaid tax LR 30 89
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEED 26 92,144 109,508
Total current assets REBEELSE 152,871 154,466
CURRENT LIABILITIES nBEE
Trade payables B EMNIRR 27 10 4
Other payables and accruals o < 5K I8 K JE 5T RRIE 28 7,844 5,714
Contract liabilities EHEaE 29 2,495 1,503
Deposits from customers EEF 30 7,272 -
Lease liabilities HEAE 31 94 2,194
Promissory note HH IR 32 75,947 =
Total current liabilities nBEELHE 93,662 9,415
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 59,209 145,051
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FEMBRR R

As at 31 March 2022 R-ZE - —“F=ZH=+—H

2022 2021
=F== T —F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 2 TiEx FAT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERBERABAE
LIABILITIES 75,139 153,995
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Lease liabilities HEARE 31 - 94
Promissory note AN 32 - 70,421
Total non-current liabilities kREEEHEE - 70,515
NET ASSETS EERE 75,139 83,480
EQUITY =
Share capital [N 34 145,724 145,724
Reserves {15 (119,494) (84,535)
Equity attributable to owners of the ZA2QTFH AELEZS
Company 26,230 61,189
Non-controlling interests FE 1% I 48,909 22,291
TOTAL EQUITY S 75,139 83,480
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised SEAERMBERRENRN - _—_F,NB=_+MH
for issue by the board of directors on 24 June 2022 and were signed EEsel AR EETE  WEHBUTAL
on its behalf by: REESSEZE:
Mr. Zhang Chunhua Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee
REESE EgELL
Chairman Director
FE EE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated BEBT 2 P 3 Bz 4R & B 75 3R 3% < 48 X 3P
financial statements. 7 @

N
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
BRNADTREA
Foreign
Share  Statutory  currency Share Capital Non-
Share  premium reserve translation option contribution  Accumulated controlling
capital  account fund reserve reserve reserve losses ~ Subtotal interests Total
Bx RGEER ZThEES AMELRE BRERE EFEARE ZHER Nt FERES i
(hoteg) (o) (hoteg) fhoteq) (hotee)
Wia) Wy W) W) e
HKS 000 HKS000 HKS 1000 HK$1000 HK$ 1000 HK$ 1000 HK$ 1000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS000
Thr TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr TR TR TR TEr  TEn
Asat 1 Aprl 2020 N-E-EERA-A 146,245 521,041 1 (29 30,713 - (608 156) 88,552 - 88,552
(Loss)/proffor the year ER(EE) /&7 - - - - - N Y/ I 1908 (914
Other comprehensive incomelloss)for e year: ~ EMEMZENE/(BE):
Exchange diferences on translaton offoreign BERNEE ERZE
operation - - - 811 - - - 811 2 809
Reclassficaton adjustments of cumulative translaion A EE N EREEZ:HE
reserve upon disposal offoreign operation during. - B Z EF AR
the year - - - 116 - - - 116 - 116
Tota comprehensive income/oss) for the year ERRENG/(BR)EE - - - w - - e 196 (38219
Subscrption ofnew shares from non-controling FERERDENRE
nterests - - - - - - - - 9,750 9,750
Acquistion of subsidiares KENEDT - - - - - - - - 17002 17,002
Deemed acouistion fom non-contioling interests B ANEFFERES - - - - - - (3.459) B4y (13008 (16467)
Non-controling interests arsing on change n HBATRRERRSD
ownership nterests i subsidares wihoutlostof ~— (FEX A1)
control EX FnRER - - - - - - o o (o) -
Deemed capialcontiouton flom isste of pomissory  EfE R AR Z A
note - - - - - 12328 - 12328 - 12328
Recogniton of employees share award schemeon ~—~ BRMBLAEAMNERR
subsidiry level Wk HE - - - - - - - - 5,207 5,207
Disposal of subsidiares HERBAT - - 1] - - - i - 2288 2208
Lapsed of share options BlEH - - - - 81) - 81 - - -
Subscription of new shares RENRD 479 2501 - - - - - 3000 - 3000
Share Issuing expenses RHEfRS - Bl) - - - - - il > p)
As at 31 March 2021 and as at 1 Apr 2021 N=B-%=R=1-A
k-E--%RA-H 146,724 523511 - 635 30,282 12328 (651,241) 61,189 2.1 83480
Loss for the year EnEER - - - - - - B 683 {6154
Other comprehensive incomefoss) for the year: ERMEMRENE/ (BR):
Exchange diferences on translaion of foreign BERNRBES£E
operaon - - - 17 - - - 137 ) 126
Tota comprehensive income/oss) for the year EnzEhs/(FR)4E - - - 137 - N T 7/ I A B8 (509
Non-controling inerests arsing on change i BELAERERRSY
ownership interests i subsiceres without ostof (P& X £ 12 41#E)
control EXEERER - - - - - - (%61) o) 36t 3,100
Recogriton of equiy setfled share-based payment ~ BAREEE N R AZR
VAT - - - - 2587 - - 2587 - 2587
Lapsed of share opfions EREXN - - - - (395) - 35 - - -
As at 31 March 2022 RZEZZESA=+-B 574 523511 - m 32,464 1238 (688,569) 26,200 48909 75,139
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

I

SOMEREBR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Share premium account

Under the Companies Law (2001 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account of the Company is distributable to its shareholders
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Statutory reserve fund

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for business enterprises in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), a portion of the profits of the entities
which are registered in the PRC has been transferred to the statutory reserve
fund which is restricted as to use. When the balance of such reserve fund
reaches 50% of the capital of that entity, any further appropriation is optional.
The statutory reserve fund can be utilised, upon approval of the relevant
authority, to offset prior years’ losses or to increase capital. However, the
balance of the statutory reserve fund must be maintained at least 25% of
capital after such usage.

Foreign currency translation reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences relating
to the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations from
their functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”)) which are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. Such
exchange differences accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve
are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operations.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted
which are yet to be exercised. The amount will be transferred to the share
premium account when the related options are exercised, and will be
transferred to accumulated losses should the related options expire or be
forfeited.

Capital contribution reserve

Capital contribution reserve represents Mr. Zhang Chunhua (‘Mr. Zhang”),
a director and substantial shareholder of the Company, had accepted a
promissory note issued by the Company with terms of promissory note in
favor to the Group.
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(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
lﬁK IEEEELUWE;%;EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

2022 2021
—g=-= —E - —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFExT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REXBZHAELRE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax from continuing operations REFELEER 2 BRRAEE (46,154) (38,277)
Loss before tax from discontinued operation KEB K| Z“‘ BEBELZ
B B4 Al S Té! - (867)
Adjustments for: KRR TYRIE
Employees share award scheme expenses EERHEEFT 8 X - 5,297
Finance costs % E 78 244
Bank interest income AT E WA (30) (54)
Amortisation of intangible assets EREEHHE 1,555 =
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - BiER R 2T E 927 1,435
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 1,915 1,986
Loss on acquisition of subsidiaries WHEKT B AR 2 B8 = 17,360
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENRB AR 2 W= - (16,189)
Loss arising on fair value change of financial AAFEETEERGA
liabilities at fair value through %a S TRBEATEE
profit or loss BEELEIR 7,476 5,134
Write-down of inventories &R - 3,332
Impairment losses recognised under BEBEEHREEEBREXER
expected credit loss model, net of reversal ZOBBEEE - R EE 1,517 (364)
Share-based payment expenses B AEER Z2HRAX 2,587 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of PREE AR ERERZ
interest in an associate BB E 1B - 487
Share of results of an associate FE(E— B E AR A = (5)
Operating cash flow before movements EEESEHAKERERNE
in working capital (30,129) (20,481)
Change in inventories FEZ 3,322 1,919
Change in loan receivables FE U B Sk & (18,319) (8,921)
Change in trade receivables FE 1 EE /*K ié (4,877) 296
Change in prepayment, deposits and TEfFRIE - T%&
other receivables o th JfE U R I8 & 3,454 (8,861)
Change in trade payables BoREN ﬁE 5 ‘“ﬁ @J 6 736
Change in other payables and accruals H i e 2R IE' R FEETRIBE &) 48 4,251
Change in contract liabilities ERAEEH 889 (711)
Change in deposits from customers EPEFEREE 7,272 =
Cash used in operations KMEXEAZES (38,334) (81,772)
Tax refund ERFIE 59 (41)
Net cash used in operating activities REEBAZREFEHE (38,275) (31,813
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n'l'.F iﬂ@l)lbii

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

2022 2021
—EF —E-—fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TEx FE T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REXBZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received B ER1TH 2 30 54
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BAME  BELZE (122) (700)
Prepayment for acquisition of software W B B 2 TR 3R 1B - (4,670)
Purchase of intangible assets EEETAE (11,260) _
Net cash inflow from acquisition of WEEN B R R 2
subsidiaries RemAFE = 83
Advance to an associate M) — A B & AR B K (606) (1,096)
Net cash inflow from disposal of HEMRBARZ
subsidiaries REemAFHE - 3,579
Net cash used in investing activities REEXEBFAZHRLEEHE (11,958) (2,750)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEXBZHELRE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries without iz B 7k 5 2 4% %l 4 2 [ B A 7
lost of control ’ BT 1S 3K I8 35,100 =
Proceed from issue of new shares 547 504 B 18 2B - 3,000
Proceed from issue of promissory note BITANEBTE IR = 78,000
Share issuing expense 1D BT X - (51)
Contribution from non-controlling interests EIERERTE - 9,750
Repayment of lease liabilities BEBEAR (2,310) (2,914)
Net cash generated from MEXKEL2REFEHE
financing activities 32,790 87,785
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND iﬂﬁ RRSZEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS W), 1 hEEE (17,443) 53,222
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of i&iﬁﬂ%ﬂzfﬁi &
the reporting period EEY 109,508 55,973
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net = @JZ ik 79 313
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE HEHRZ2AERRLZEY
END OF REPORTING PERIOD 92,144 109,508
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Brilliant Global Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands. The address of its
registered office is Century Yard, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, the Cayman Islands.
The address of its principal place of business is Flat B, 9/F, 9
Des Voeux Road West, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are
listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). Its immediate and ultimate parent is Brilliant
Chapter Limited (“Brilliant Chapter”), a company incorporated in
Republic of Seychelles with limited liabilities and owned by Mr.
Zhang and Source Mega Limited which acts as nominee of Ms.
Zhang Chunping (“Ms. Zhang”). Both Mr. Zhang and Ms. Zhang
are the directors and Mr. Zhang is the brother of Ms. Zhang.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are trading and retailing
of gold and jewellery products, money lending and related
business and fintech business. The Group had ceased the
retailing of gold and jewellery products on 21 July 2021. The
Group was also engaged in distribution of pharmaceutical and
healthcare products, for which the operation was disposed
on 14 July 2020 through disposal of the entire equity interest
in Prosten Development Limited (“Prosten Development”)
and its subsidiaries (“Prosten Group”), that was discontinued
accordingly.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is also the functional currency of the Company and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$’000”), unless
otherwise stated. The Group’s subsidiaries are operating in the
PRC and Republic of Kazakhstan (“Kazakhstan”) with Renminbi
(“BRMB”) and United States dollar (‘US$”) as their functional
currency. The directors consider that it is more appropriate to
present the consolidated financial statements in HK$ as the
shares of the Company are listed on the Stock Exchange.

—BEH

AEREEEEBRARA—HRAS
HEdMK L < EBRAR - Eikflits
B 3b 4iF & Century Yard, Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, the Cayman Islands °
ExXrZaX Mt AR SE8HER
PRIEBE - KRR ZBRHRBEAE S
RSFABMR AR ([HAZAT)) GEM £ o
H H# K &4 & A F] &Briliant Chapter
Limited ([Briliant Chapter] * —H R E &
REMBI MK ZABR AR - ARE
4 N Source Mega Limited (BiR&EF 4+
(REZLDZRBNER) - REEK
RZTHREFAREERKZ LT M
2o

KRR RENBAR(AERDZEE
BERABEFEBEAR B ER - A%
BER_Z—_—FtA-_t+—HEFLE
EESRHEER AKEEREESR
RREMDEET  ZFZBERZZT=
THELATHARBALEREZREEGR
rEl((REZRDEEMB AR (K=
SEDZ 2 EREMALL -

BRBEAN REMBHERERAET
(TBTDE2N ARBZWEEE TS
AL MATHEARBEREOTMH
TFETD AEBEHBRR IR TE
Mg B A ME (iR T E D&
LXK HDBEEBRARE (ARE])
RET(ET] - BARE 2 B 1
RFET  EERBEAMBRRIAE
TEIBRES -
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning
on or after 1 April 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS
9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRS 16  Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
2021

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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2.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet

effective
HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRSs
Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 3,

HKAS 16 and HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12
Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Accounting Guideline 5 (Revised)

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018~
2020!

Reference to the Conceptual Framework!

Narrow-scope Amendments'

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds
before Intended Use!

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fuffiling a
Contract'

Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combination?

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

9 Effective for business combination/common control combination
for which the acquisition date/combination date is on or after the
beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January

2022.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

The directors anticipate that the application of all new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEEFHEREBME®Wm
POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of preparation (Continued) B E 2 (48)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to owners of the Company and to non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling interests according
to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiaries, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to
the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are account as for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSS).

Business combinations or asset acquisition

Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test,
on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially all
of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in
a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.
The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the
effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met,
the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a business
and no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises
the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
by allocating the purchase price to financial assets and financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance
of the purchase price is then allocated to the other identifiable
assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at
the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to
goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (the “CGUS”) (or
groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or
group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the
group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a
CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed
of is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the
group of CGUs) retained.

Interest in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Interest in an associate (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
an associate used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is
not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Interest in an associate (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that are
not related to the Group.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred
after the property, plant and equipment have been put into
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operation, such as repair and maintenance, is normally charged B)—BRELEHEBEERKIME
to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations AR BRAZAZAIREEREERY
where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure ¥ RE KRS TE GBS 2 A TR AL 7

has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits
expected to be obtained from the use of the property, plant and
equipment, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of
that asset.
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Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off MEREEYE - Jﬁﬂ%& % 2 (st Al

the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its FRFHUNEGEFTE UMK R

residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual EEFHBREE Jtt}mFHZEzziZ‘:ﬁﬂ

rates used for this purpose are as follows: ™~

Leasehold improvements  30% or over the lease terms, HEWMHEERE 30%3k iz 5
whichever is shorter (A EHA%E)

Office equipment 30% N ] 30%

Computer equipment 30% to 50% EN R 30% Z50%

Furniture and fixtures 20%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Intangible assets BREE
Intangible assets acquired separately BRWENETLEE

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which
the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of CGUSs,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the
recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUSs) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Cost necessary to make the sale
include incremental cost directly attribute to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sales.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL") are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of
business are presented as revenue.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. XEEHRBME®E
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) cof - g =N¢ )]

Financial assets SREE

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

CHEEMSERAEE
FAETIIGHEN SR EEEBIREHNK
Ket=:

e EMARKURBANETRENED
BEAAKENEREE R

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash e AHBKFANETEHHELERS
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on MEEAYXNEAEREKREEAR
the principal amount outstanding. SREMNENERMEE °

Amortised cost and interest income B2 AR R FIE WA

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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Impairment of financial assets THEERE
The Group performs impairment assessment under expected AEEHSHMEE  BEEKENR &
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including loan IWERFR ~ 3] & R Efib E Ue 508 - e LB

receivables, trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amount due from an associate and bank balances). The amount
of ECL is updated at the end of each reporting period to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEFHHRBEm@m
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) £R T A (E)

Financial assets (Continued) TREE (&)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) TEEE A ()

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the end of the reporting period as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognise lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

2HBEREEEREERBTARMNE
RHIRANZEEMEAREEZNEHFMER
MBEHEEESE Bk +—EABEB
EFEBR(+_EARHEEBEDA
EEATENBRERHR2EANEE
EHNENMEZNHL 2MBERERE
B HEIRBEAKSEBEEERRL
BRET ITREEGABTHEE  —K
AR RS e 8 R 5 HA R B0 & AR L A &%
REARNIBB O RFEETRAE -

AREBE-RUBUER(EERBEK
DHEREHNBEHEERE -

IPAAREMTAME  ARERASR
T EAEREEERNESRITEEE
B BRIFEVIaERRERERER KR
#Zm AAKERIAZHNEREES
BoARAREREYENEEER
THAR IR B #7046 i 2R DA SR P 35 AR 3B K9 RO 7]
BE M 2 f B9 KR B AN E e

2021/22 3R | BREEIREBERAE

111



112

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the end of
the reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEEHERMEW®W
POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) cof - g =N¢ )]
Financial assets (Continued) TREE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) TEEE A ()

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over three years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2021/22

3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

FEEHHRERBE@®E

£F T A(&)

TREEGE)

T EERE(E)

EERESREE

”‘“?é‘i AR ZALE &R EER KK
BeREETNEENENE  eBE

ELREERE - eRMEELREER

BENBBEEREATABRREN:

@ BOTARBBALREENBER
-

b EREHWELQIBHEMN) :

© ERANERA BERXKAHME
*EE%Z,Z%/FJZ #) 22 £ T [ 8 5K
AREEBEEMBERTATE
B)

@ ERARBAESS
Hip s EH -

W EE ST

i $H B R
HBEERBRRZHTBABREV R
HEEBERWOATRE IR ZETIE
ETEBICEARERFT - LB
BRME  AHSECARBEBR=F (A
RPEZREELE) AEBEEHHESRE
Ee-HEEBBEELIEEREK BHES
BEEDARBEASENKLEREFEE
SREIBTT o MIEEARARLLRERER - £
MERETHREHNBRER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEFHHRBEm@m
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) £R T A (E)

Financial assets (Continued) TREE (&)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) TEEE A ()

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

Generally, the ECL is estimated the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information
and relevant credit information such as forward looking

macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the

constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of loan receivable, trade receivables
and amount due from an associate where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEEHERMEW®W
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) £R T A (E)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments THABERRATA

Classification as debt or equity EBSRAZ 52

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are SEERBBTCEBRRATATRE

classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

o the financial liability forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information about
the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables
and accruals (exclude receipt in advance) and deposits from
customers) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in the profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain financial
asset hosts within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not separated. The
entire hybrid contract is classified and subsequently measured in
its entirety as either amortised cost or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are
not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated as
separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative,
their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of
the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at
FVTPL.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2021/22

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

FEEHHRERBE@®E

@I A(&)
cRAERERATAGE)
B TFEEFARBRGCHEEE)

s HBREZ HEZZERAAILE
TEAKNN—&n - MBBMBR
SRANFIRAFHEMEMAS AL
BEREBEAFEEFABRER -

HEHK LR 2B

TRAR(BRESRMNERER - EtEM
RENEARB(TBERKRAIE) LT
P17 sk) BRI 3 sH B AR A B R A ROX

HE o

AL TER 2 @B &
EREEASENEEEKET 1§
BRE BN AEBTRIERRESHE
& RIBANSHRAEENEEERS
NEEMHREZHENEZESEIEETD
TR o

Ttz @ LA

TETARITUMTETARNERNS
BATEERR HEREBESHRZA
FEESHE FAEMBZBEEBENE

R e

BARITETA

REABR BB REEREISRBER
ZEERMEBEEZREAANGHOME KA
RENARZITETAERNGDE LK - B
MEARNANEERBIELRNERZE
HRARKAFEERAEERGE -

REETBE B ERELEDFOH &
BRAzEemEEZIEMETAEFAEOM
= EBRARABOAZITETERTAL
ATEZFER  MERBIKEHEES
HzRBEERTEZYBREGR B4
DI FER AN FEBEFAB SR 26 -
FEEEBYITETEERE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEEHERMEW®W
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) cof - g =N¢ )]

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued) TRABERRATA(E)
Embedded derivatives (Continued) HAZPTET A (E)

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single instrument
that are separated from the host contracts are treated as a
single compound embedded derivative unless those derivatives
relate to different risk exposures and are readily separable and
independent of each other.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligations,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other unexpected
events that give rise to the possibility of an inflow of economic
benefits to the Group and they are not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. The Group assesses
continually the development of contingent assets. If it has
become virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits will
arise, the Group recognises the asset and the related income in
the consolidated financial statements in the reporting period in
which the change occurs.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation,
the part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other
parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has become
probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow of future
economic benefits will be required for an item previously dealt
with as a contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the
consolidated financial statements in the reporting period in which
the change in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare
circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control of the good or service may be transferred over time or at
a point in time. Control of the good or service is transferred over
time if one of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Revenue from sales of goods

The Group is engaged in the trading of gold and jewellery
products in the wholesale market and directly to customers
through its own retail outlets.

For trading of gold and jewellery products in the wholesale
market, revenue is recognised when control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been shipped
to the wholesaler’s specific location. Transportation and
handling activities that occur before customers obtain control
are considered as fulfilment activities. Following delivery, the
wholesaler has full discretion over the manner of distribution
and price to sell the goods, has the primary responsibility for on
selling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss
in relation to the goods. The normal credit term is for a maximum
of 6 months upon the delivery pursuant to the relevant contracts.

For sales of jewellery products to retail customers, revenue is
recognised when control of the goods has transferred, being at
the point the customer purchases the goods at the retail outlet.
Payment of the transaction price is due immediately at the point
the customer purchases the goods.

A contract liability is also recognised when the wholesalers and
retail customers pay deposit before the Group transfers control
of the products to the wholesalers/retail customers.

Loan commission income

Commission income is recognised on a success basis, i.e. when
the relevant application for loan has been successfully approved
and granted. The commission will be received by the Company
upon completion of the loan.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations on, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components,
including contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a
property which includes both leasehold land and non-lease building
components, unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of offices and warehouse that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEESHBEMEE)

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent concessions in
which the Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the
lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the date of reassessment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEEHERMEW®W
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE(E)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBEAEBEAE)
Lease liabilities (Continued) HEEE (&)

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review in which cases
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications:

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a lease maodification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has elected
to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether the
change is a lease modification if all of the following conditions are
met:

° the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the same
as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change;

° any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

o there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes
in lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same
way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the
changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments.
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised
in the profit or loss in the period in which the event occurs.

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and
when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such
as salaries and bonus) after deducting any amount already paid.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEEHERMEW®W
POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued) EERT(E)

Retirement benefit obligations RINENEE

Payment to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) is recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions. The Group
operates a MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution scheme,
the assets of which are held in separate trustee-administered
funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, with the employers’ contributions
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The
Group’s contributions to the scheme are expensed as incurred
and vested in accordance with the scheme’s vesting scales.
Where employees leave the scheme prior to the full vesting of the
employer’s contributions, the amount of forfeited contributions is
used to reduce the contributions payable by the Group.

Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
participate in the employee retirement scheme operated by the
relevant local government bureau in the PRC. The contributions
to be borne by the Group are calculated at a certain percentage
of the salaries and wages for those eligible employees.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions charged to profit
or loss represent contributions paid or payable to the funds by
the Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.
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Share-based payment URPAEER 24K
Share-based payment transactions RO BERZNRARS
Shares options granted to employees KT IES R BRI

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payment (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Shares options granted to employees (Continued)

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity under the heading of share
option reserve. At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected
to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share options reserve. For share options that
vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share
options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.

Share-option granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the
services received, except where that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date
the entity obtains the counterparty renders the service. The fair
values of the services received are recognised as expenses
(unless the services qualify for recognition as assets).

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Government grants (Continued)

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other gains and losses, net”.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with interests in subsidiaries and interest
in an associate, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of
these criteria.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign currency
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(0

(i

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i

(i

)

(iv)

(vi)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity); or

(viiiy the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or
obligation between the Group and a related party, regardless of
whether a price is charged.

Close family members of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
person in their dealings with the entity.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
amortisation and impairment, if any. In determining whether
an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value;
(2) whether the carrying amount of an asset can be supported
by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable
amounts including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
the assets belong. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used in
the impairment test.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for financial assets measured at
amortised cost

Trade receivables with significant balances, trade receivables
classified as credit-impaired and all other financial assets
measured at amortised cost are assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables which are not assessed individually using
a provision matrix. The provision rates are based on aging of
debtors as groupings of various debtors taking into consideration
the Group’s historical default rates and forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At the end of each reporting period, the
historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in
the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL are disclosed in note 46.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the executive directors, being the chief
operating decision maker (the “CODM?”), for the purpose of
monitoring segment performance and allocating resources
between segments that are used to make strategic decisions.

The Group has three (2021: four) reportable segments during
the year ended 31 March 2022. The reportable segments are
based on the information about the operations of the Group that
management uses to make decisions.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units
that operate different activities. They are managed separately
because each business has different markets and requires
different marketing strategies. Particulars of the Group’s
reportable segments for continuing and discontinued operations
are summarised as follows:

Continuing operations

o Gold and jewellery business
o Lending business

° Fintech business

Discontinued operation
° Distribution of pharmaceutical and healthcare products

The Group was engaged in distribution of pharmaceutical and
healthcare products, for which the operation was disposed on 14
July 2020 through disposal of the entire equity interest in Prosten
Group, that was discontinued accordingly.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BRESHBER &)
(Continued)
Gold and
jewellery Lending Fintech
business business business Total
ESR%E
2% BEEE SRMBHER B
Bz-g-C HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
For the year ended 31 March 2022 ZR=+-HLEE Ti#x Ti#x TEx Ti#x
Continuing operations BEEE
REVENUE 25
From external customers: RENBRE:
Trading of gold and jewellery products BeRAKEEREE 71,324 = = 71,324
Retailing of jewellery products KEEMTE 2,606 = = 2,606
Lending business EIE = 3,178 = 3,178
Loan commission income BERAE kA = 209 = 209
Fintech business RN ER = o 489 489
73,930 3,387 489 77,806
RESULTS 25
Segment results PEBEE (2,07) 2,810 (27,484) (26,745)
Unallocated income N (7,423)
Unallocated expenses FOERT (11,908)
Finance costs HEER (78)
Loss before tax BERIEE (46,154)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BRESHBER &)
(Continued)
Gold and
jewellery Lending
business business  Fintech business Total
EER%E
£ BEEE SRPRER @5t
BE-E--F HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
For the year ended 31 March 2021 ZR=+-HLEE TAT TAT TAT TAT
Continuing operations RERE
REVENUE &
From external customers: RENBRE:
Trading of gold and jewellery products EELHEEREE 47,989 - = 47,989
Retailing of jewellery products GKEEMTE 9,456 - - 9,456
Lending business EEXHK - 1,593 = 1,593
57,445 1,593 - 59,038
RESULTS E3 |
Segment results PREE 2,205) 2,393 (21,564) (21,376)
Unallocated income KARBA 627
Unallocated expenses RAMER (16,802)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of HRBENAERER
interest in an associate HESE (487)
Finance costs HEER (244)
Share of results of an associate 3 AN S 5
Loss before tax BHAEE (38,277)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3
to the consolidated financial statements. Segment (loss)/profit
represents the (loss suffered)/profit earned from each segment
without allocation of central administrative costs, certain other

gains and losses, net, other expenses, finance costs, certain
impairment losses recognised under expected credit losses
model, net of reversal, impairment loss recognised in respect
of interest in an associate and share of results of an associate
which not included in segment results. This is the measure
reported to the Group’s management for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BRESHBER &)
(Continued)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities RIEENHE D2 AEBEERABED
by operating segment: MranT :
2022 2021
=—F== —E—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FiE&xT FAIT
SEGMENT ASSETS TEHEE
Gold and jewellery business B MKREER 13,136 11,838
Lending business CREia 49,336 38,585
Fintech business & pBHE 75 95,617 60,084
Segment assets D EEE 158,089 110,507
Interest in an associate REZ N F 2w - -
Unallocated assets RoBLEE 10,712 52,903
Total assets BEEWQSH 168,801 163,410
SEGMENT LIABILITIES SEEE
Gold and jewellery business mo MKE XK 3,220 2,621
Lending business BEXEB = =
Fintech business & mBHE E 75 10,554 3,150
Segment liabilities HEEE 13,774 5,771
Unallocated liabilities ROEEE 79,888 74,159
Total liabilities =R g kL] 93,662 79,930

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and

allocating resources between segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating segments except
interest in an associate, amount due from an associate,
certain property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
prepayment, deposits and other receivables and cash and
cash equivalents held by the respective head offices; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments except
certain other payables and accruals, lease liabilities and

promissory note.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Geographical information

RETBEM A

Hh 33 & 44

Information about the Group’s revenue from continuing
operations from external customers, presented based on
geographical location of the customers, and information about
the Group’s non-current assets other than financial assets,

BRAASEREIIBELPZIFERER
BB ERIAEP 2BV E 275
MARASEECREERINIERBE
EERTNBEZHBEUEZY - #15

presented based on geographical location of the assets are
detailed below:

LIRNE

Revenue of
external customers Non-curreqt assets
RENBER 2 EREBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
g —E-—f ZIZEZZC —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TE&xT FHET Ti&x FAET
The PRC [ 74,139 57,445 39 5
Hong Kong BB 3,667 1,593 15,863 4,269
Kazakhstan N ] - = 28 =
Total B35 77,806 59,038 15,930 4,274

Note: Non-current assets exclude prepayment.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers from continuing operations of the
corresponding years contributing over 10% of the total revenue
of the Group is as follows:

Brit: FERBEESBREAMHIEA -

FRXEEFZEHN

15 7R 5= B A AR B 7 R AR IR 28 1110% 2 15

BREEEZEPRENMT:

2022 2021

—E=-_ —E—4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

T#&T THET

Customer Al ZEA 35,563 -

Customer B! =B 10,875 -

Customer C! BEC 9,063 -

Customer D! = ED 7,824 N/ATR i F°

Customer E' ZEFEE - 12,835

Customer F! PR N/AT i 2 10,198

Customer G! ZEG - 9,500

Customer H! BEH - 6,193

1 Revenue from gold and jewellery business 1 REES RIKE XZHH W=
2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total 2 B MK 2 N R A 7N &R [ 48 i 2 9 10% LA
revenue of the Group. Lo

Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10% or
more to the Group’s revenue for both years.

BEXFrmBEEN  BEEMEPRA
SEXMIESE W mPHE10%H A £

ZHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.
(Continued)

RETBEM A

Hit BEHR
BE-F-_—_$=A=+—HLFE

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2022

Gold and
jewellery Lending
business business  Fintech business Unallocated Consolidation
ESRKE
&5 BEEE  SRBHER AR ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx T TiEn TiEx Ti#gn
Amounts included in the measureof ~ ERERAPERG A
segment profit or loss or segment BEFENSE:
assets:
Amortisation of intangible assets BYVEERHS = = 1,555 = 1,555
Depreciation of property, plant and nx BERAEL
equipment & 2 - 110 815 21
Depreciation of right-of-Use assets FREEENE = = = 1915 1915
Loss arising on fair value change of fnanclal  MAATFEEF 2 EHAR
liabllties at fair value through profitor loss %z ¢ BAEATEES
HEEZER - - - 7,476 7,476
Impairment losses recognised under RERHEEHEE
expected credit loss modl, net of BRLAEEE Nk
reversal B (223) 536 144 1,060 1,517
Addions to non-current assets fore) REERDEEW ) = = 16,052 = 16,052
Amounts regularly provided to the EHREFIEEE
CODM but not included in the REABFHALS
measure of segment profitorlossor ~ ERHAPEEE
segment assets: MeE:
Bank interest income RITHEHMA (22 = 8 = (30)
Finance costs BBER 2 = = 76 8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2021

RETBEM A

Hith 5 &8 & ¥ (48)

BE-F-—F=A=t—ALFE

Gold and
jewellery Lending
business business  Fintech business Unallocated Consolidation
B RHE
£ FEXE  SRREER AR Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Tin Tin Thn Tin
Amounts included in the measure of segment BER 2 BREHH T
profit or loss or segment assets: BEHENEE:
Depreciation of property, plant and VER T ET:
equipment il 1 - 604 830 1435
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREAE B - - - 1,986 1986
Loss arising on fair value change of financial  MAAFEEF 2 AR
liabilties at fair value through profitor loss &z ¢ BAEATEES
PELLER - - - 5,134 5134
Impairment losses recognised under RERBEEBRER
expected credit loss model, net of BRZAERE Mk
reversal &e 449 (839) 1 25 (364)
Impairment loss recognised inrespectof R BEERAERETDL
interest in an associate REEE - - - 487 487
Write-clown of inventories FERR 3332 - - - 3332
Addftions to non-current assets fote) REERDEEW ) 5 - 489 206 700
Amounts reqularly provided o the CODM but  ERETEE4E
not included in the measure of segment AR ABREHAL B
profit o loss or segment assefs: BRI DEENE
MeE:
Bank interest income RIHEMA (26) - (1) 7 (54)
Finance costs H%ER 34 - - 210 244

Note: Non-current assets included property, plant and equipment and

intangible assets.

et ERBEERREYE BE  RBELE

WEE -
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e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

6. REVENUE 6. Ukz
2022 2021
—F=-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#&T T
Continuing operations BHEKEER
Revenue from contract with customers REEBHEHRELEN
with HKFRS 15 EBRZEFAHKE
Recognised at a point in time TR ] 57 B 2 7 R
Trading of gold and jewellery products B HKEEREE 71,324 47,989
Retailing of jewellery products REEmZTE 2,606 9,456
Loan commission income BExAES KA 209 =
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEH W 74,139 57,445
Revenue from other source: 5 B B 3R 8K 7 -
Loan interest income B RCH B A 3,178 1,593
Net interest income from fintech business RERBEHREBRHR S
W A% 489 _
Total revenue Al g 77,806 59,038
Interest income from fintech business arising EEXBETYIEEN SR
from: B B EHWA :
— Loans and advances to customers: -BFERRBR
Corporate loans and advances R ER KR BRK 493 -
493 _
Less: interest expense from fintech business WEEBNIIBERN SR
arising from: R EBH SR
— Deposits from customers - BPF
Corporate customers TEREF 4 =
4 _
Net interest income from fintech business RESREH R EBLR
MEWAHEE 489 -

STEEEFSHNAREBHEENR
obligation for contracts with customers 2

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121 REBE B BB BB RELER F155% 5
of HKFRS 15 to its sales contract for gold and jewellery products IRFHNEBSEEZEAREESR
that the Group does not disclose information about revenue KEERNEERYN AEETAE R
that the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining EEASEERITRVIANTEBFERHN
performance obligations under the sales contract that had an R—EREENHEGNE THRIRE
original expected duration of one year or less. HNEERSEEESHRENER -

Transaction allocated to the remaining performance
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e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 7. Hitt S RERFE
2022 2021
—E-= —EF——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#&T FAET
Continuing operations KEREXEK
Bank interest income (other than those arising ~ $E1TF. B W A CRE £ @Rl
from fintech business) REBFHIBR SN 30 54
Covid-19-related rent concessions —E-AEMRRE
ELc e o e = 36
Exchange (losses)/gains, net ER (B18) Wt F58 (270) 63
Loss arising on fair value change of financial ANTEEEFEEEGA
liabilities at fair value through Ta SZCRBELT
profit or loss BEEHELE ZEE (7,476) (5,134)
Loss on acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) WEE M B A7 2 E518
(Kt #£37) - (17,360)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) HEMEB AR 2 WS
(Kt 5£39) - 15,360
Government grants 8IS #6 Bh = 562
Refund of consultancy service fee BREBARBGE 116 =
Sundry income IR A 74 1
(7,526) (6,418)
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised %zi_ S —F=A=+—HIEFEH
government grants of HK$562,000 in respect of Covid-19- CAEEBRAZZT-NAERASEA

related subsidies which relates to Employment Support
Scheme provided by the Hong Kong Government and subsidies
provide by the PRC local government as a support. There
were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these
government grants.

ﬁ 86662,00078 JT -+ Itk T3 BR & B K AT 42
PO £R B 5T 81 N b B 07 R fR (R 3R
RAMERH - EAEXSERTMEZ
REMGEHERIREIE -
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e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET (Continued) 7. H{ilx=RBHEFEE @
Acquisition of Brillink Holdings Limited (formerly W BB E B IR B PR 2 5] (50 78 B &
known as CBG Fintech Holdings Limited and Eurasia P2 @i % B PR 2 B & o8 BXOK pE 1
Continental Capital Holding Limited) (“Brillink”) BRERQT)(EERD
On 28 May 2020, the Group completed the acquisition of Brillink, R-ZBE-_FEFRA-+NH KEEFE
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, whereby RMBEHCHREBERAES T
the Group subscribed for 56% of the issued share capital of MRZB AR Bt AEEREE
Brilink, as enlarged by the subscription, at an aggregate cash AR EIRIE RN 1R 256% 2 1T
consideration of US$5million (equivalent to approximately xR\ REASEEETHEERD
HK$39,000,000). Brillink, through its indirect wholly-owned 39,000,000 7T) - HEAEBAEEEE
subsidiary China Brilliant Financial Limited (formerly known Fff /8 /A B China Brilliant Financial Limited
as Eurasia Continental Fintech Limited) (‘ECF”), was to be (FiIf&Eurasia Continental Fintech Limited)
principally engaged in banking business in Kazakhstan. ECF, (ECFDEZER e fE m Bt FR1T %
incorporated in Astana International Financial Centre (“AIFC”), #% ° China Birilliant Financial Limited 4 B
had been granted a digital banking sandbox license, a fintech Hy £ 4 B B w0y (JAIFC)) sEf Ak ST
lab participant license granted by Astana Financial Services T 1S T 7o, Hi 38 o] H 25 40 & 7l AR 75 B 1R
Authority of Kazakhstan. As at the date of the acquisition, ECF BREFHFROVEEB(EHERE
had not yet commenced operating the banking business in SEEIR) - NI RE - ECFE R
Kazakhstan and was engaged in system development and IR NS TE e HT IH AR IRIT TS - WS
testing and liaising with the relevant governmental authority for RERBERARARERAFCKEESRE
converting the fintech lab participant license to a full banking BRESEEMRERSIFARITERE
licence in the AIFC. The acquisition of Brilink and its subsidiaries HERAHEBRESE RZZE_ZFFHA
(collectively referred to as “Brillink Group”) on 28 May 2020 is not “THNABWESMAREWB AR (ERA])
considered as a business combination as Brilink Group were not WAHEBEREH  RAARZA -
a business as at that date. EEETBR I -
On the acquisition date, no gain or loss was recognised in the RKERR  MERAEEEHE-Z=
interim financial report of the Group for the interim period of six ZEFENA=+THIEANE AR IR ZF
months ended 30 September 2020 as arising from the acquisition B REPERE KRB EREEmE
of the Brillink Group as the Group considered that it was making ErWmEHER REARSERAH
contribution to its own subsidiary. In the preparation of the HEGHBRARIEL TE - RIRREZR
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March —E—F=-A=+—HItFEZHEA
2021, the Group reassessed the accounting treatment adopted W mRE  AEBEEFTHEFAK
for the acquisition of Brillink Group during the year and determined BERSBEMEMcSTRELE - I
that a loss arose from the acquisition, amounting to approximately & B EE A 2 [E5 181 4917,360,000/8 7T
HK$17,360,000, which is recognised in “Other gains and losses, HERiREeBm A Bl as & E1E 55
net” in the consolidated profit or loss. This loss arose because of R e WEE AR AEEZRBELE
the premium of the Group’s subscription contribution amount of %518 8 > 7t (182 7 4989,000,000/%5 7T)
US$5 million (equivalent to approximately HK$39,000,000) over the RAEEEGESHEE 2R EE (B
Group’s share of fair value of the identifiable assets (including the ERELHERB)RBEZATEERE
subscription contribution amount) and liabilities of Brillink Group. BT 2L °
FINANCE COSTS 8. HMKEH
2022 2021
—EB-= —EF——4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT T
Continuing operations BEREER
Interest on lease liabilities HEARMNE 78 244
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B SRR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

o.

LOSS BEFORE TAX

9. RBAIEIR

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): AEBBRFAIESELHNR,(GEA) T
BIRRER:
2022 2021
—g-= —E——4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFExT FE T
Continuing operations KEREEK
Amortisation of intangible assets BEEEHE 1,555 =
Cost of inventories sold ELTFERKAE 72,786 54,080
Write-down of inventories FERRE - 3,332
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - BMERZEZITE 927 1,435
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAREEZIE 1,915 1,986
Impairment losses recognised in respect of: BTH R ZIBERAE:
— interest in an associate — B ’& Al Z = 487
Impairment losses recognised under expected 278 Hi{= & B R A FE R
credit losses model, net of reversal OB AE EE (3 Kf B E)
— amount due from an associate — JEYBs & A R FRIE 1,060 (234)
— loan and trade receivables - ERER K E 1451 AR 710 (383)
— deposits and other receivables - 5% R HE b FE M FRIE (253) 253
1,517 (364)
Expenses relating to short-term leases EHAEREZAX 278 41
Expenses relating to low value assets KEBEEEMABE AL 18 18
Auditors’ remuneration 1% SR B
— audit services - BET RS 948 840
Share-based payment expenses in respect of ~ EdEARE A B8 2 LA KD
consultants BERZNRAZ 2,587 -
Employee benefits expense (including directors’ & & 48 7l f
remuneration): (BRESZH2) :
— Wages, salaries, allowances and benefits -I&  ¥H& - EZREK
in kind =k 14,902 11,654
— Discretionary bonus - B TEAT 596 362
— Employees share award scheme on -WEBAREEMNES
subsidiary level B 1n BB ET &l = 5,297
— Retirement benefit schemes contributions - RIRSETEIHE R 620 284
16,118 17,597
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “BIll”)
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on
the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime,
the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will
be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, starting from current year, the Hong Kong Profits
Tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profits of qualifying group entity and 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the
year ended 31 March 2022 as the Group’s assessable profit
were offset by one-off tax reduction of Hong Kong Profits Tax
provided by Inland Revenue Department.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the
year ended 31 March 2021 as the Group has no assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong.

No provision for the PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been made
for both years as the Group has no assessable profits arising in
the PRC.

The subsidiary of established in the Kazakhstan is generally
subject to Kazakhstan Corporate Income Tax on its taxable
income at an income tax rate of 20% and assessed for a
calendar year. All Kazakhstan legal entities and branches of
foreign legal entities are subject to Corporate Income Tax.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

10. FiE M X

NR-ZE-NEFE=A=-+—8 BB LA
BB —EFHEUSFTNETHR) K
BIEZR (MEFIEZR]) - LB AFIS R
&l o RFIEEN=—FE—/\E=A=1/\H
BEXAELE URBEHESHTE -
REBEFSHMAL  GEKZSEEE
B2E &S a2 K 58.25% ¢ 1M
HRE2E & T A 2 B R 16 R816.5% o
RAEEREBFEGHEMAL 2 EEE B R
I 1% 42 48 DA B — B %16.5% mr 1ot ©

At BAFEE  GERKSEEER
AHERTOEN N E28 B8 TR8.25%:T
BEBNEH - MEB2ESE TG
J&FR T8 M IR 16.5% -t BEE NS -

RIBHBECREMEBENREMEHR
EDREERBSBEAB AR - B
BB EFE 2R ER25% °

HZE2022F3A31BILEE - WERETE
FERTIREE  FRARNEENER
AW HsRRENET S ERHE
— IR R RIS o

HRAEBEREFBL RELERD G
B BERBE—T——F=A=1—
BIEFEREBMNESHIELEMERE -

HRAEBERN PR KR ESE BRY &
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H & R UL AR 20% B BT 15 T R B e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE T -4 - A=+ —HULFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. RS H XX (@)

Until 1 January 2066, in accordance with paragraph 3 of article
6 of the Constitutional Law of the Kazakhstan “On the Astana
International Financial Centre”, the Group is exempt from
corporate income tax on income received from providing the
financial services in the AIFC.

No provision for Kazakhstan corporate income tax has
been made for both years as the Group has exempted from
Kazakhstan corporate income tax or no assessable profits
arising in Kazakhstan.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

1R 1505 B 5o AT 38 BOE F 615 F35K T
EHERERPL RZERRF—A
—HZ B - AN S B A B H o A B R
SRPOIRESRRGAESHRA
REEEMREH -

RN AEEER AR ERATEE %
P55 380 30 4 10 R 7 e AT 4B A A B AR
Mo A - B A P fE 4 2 A R B e
BREMEVIELEE -

AERZBAXHEGAEGE R EME
EW R BB ATEBBERANT

comprehensive income as fol